

Global Affairs Canada Affaires mondiales Canada





EXPORTS of Military Goods

www.exportcontrols.gc.ca

Table of Contents

| 1. Introduction | 3 |
|--|----|
| Summary of Key Data | 3 |
| 2. <u>Canada's Policy on Military Exports</u> | 6 |
| Export Controls | 6 |
| Military Goods and Technology | 7 |
| Export Permit Assessment Process | 8 |
| Notes on the Export of Firearms | 9 |
| International Cooperation on Military Trade | 9 |
| 3. <u>Developments in 2018</u> | 9 |
| Bill C-47: An Act to amend the Export and Import Permits Act and the Criminal Code | 10 |
| Arms Trade Treaty Assessment Criteria and Substantial Risk Test | 10 |
| Brokering Controls | 11 |
| Reporting on ATT Items Exported to the United States | 11 |
| Public Consultations on the Strengthening of Canada's Export Controls Regime | 12 |
| Export and Import Permits Act Judicial Reviews | 12 |
| Permit Denials | 13 |
| 4. Military Export Statistics | 13 |
| Data Interpretation Notes | 14 |
| Exports to the United States of Certain Group 2 (Munitions List) Controlled Items | 28 |
| 5. Service Standard Targets | 30 |
| 6. <u>Annexes</u> | 32 |
| A. Canada's Area Control List (ACL) | 32 |
| B. Canada's Automatic Firearms Country Control List (AFCCL) | 33 |
| C. Canada's International Transfers (Government to Government Transfers) | 34 |
| D. UN Register of Conventional Arms (UNROCA) | 35 |
| E. International Cooperation on Military Trade | 37 |
| F. Index of Destinations Considered Lower-Risk in 2018 | 39 |
| G. Exports of Military Goods and Technology by Destination and ECL Item | 40 |

List of Tables

| Table 1: 2018- Total Value of Exports for Military Goods and Technology by NATO and AFCCL | |
|---|----|
| Destinations | 4 |
| Table 2: 2018 - Export Permits Utilized and Actual Value (in CAD) of Exports by Region | 5 |
| Table 3: 2018 - Canada's Top Ten non-U.S. Destinations for Military Goods and Technology | 6 |
| Table 4: 2018 - Export Permit Denials of Military, Dual-Use and Strategic Goods and Technology | 13 |
| Table 5: 2018 - Summary of Export Permits by all ECL Groups | 16 |
| Table 6: 2018 - Export Value of Military Goods and Technology to all non-U.S. Destinations | 18 |
| Table 7: 2018 - Top Ten Destinations by Utilized Export Permits for Military Goods & Technology | 21 |
| Table 8: 2018 – Number of Utilized Export Permits for Military Goods & Technology by Destinations | 21 |
| Table 9: 2018 - Group 2 (Munitions List) of Canada's ECL | 24 |
| Table 10: 2018 - Exports of Military Goods and Technology by ECL Item Number | 26 |
| Table 11: 2018 - Number of Permits Utilized and Value Exported for certain Group 2 (Munitions List)Controlled Goods and Technology to the United States | 29 |
| Table 12: 2018 - Export Permit Applications Processed (2017 and 2018) | 30 |
| Table 13: 2018 – Global Affairs Canada Service Standards for all Military, Dual-use and Strategic Export Permit Applications | 31 |
| Table 14: 2017 – Global Affairs Canada Service Standards for all Military, Dual-use and Strategic Export Permit Applications | 31 |
| Table 15: 2018 – UNCAR: Actual Exports from Canada of Conventional Arms and SALW | 36 |

List of Charts

| Chart 1: 2018 - Exports of Military Goods and Technology by NATO and AFCCL Destinations | 5 |
|--|----|
| Chart 2: 2018 - Export Value of non-U.S. Military Goods and Technology - Percentage by Region | 6 |
| Chart 3: 2018 - <u>Utilized Export Permits</u> to non-U.S. Destinations of Military Goods and Technology - Percentage by Region | 20 |
| Chart 4: 2018 - Exports of Military Goods and Technology by ECL Item Number and Value | 26 |
| Chart 4a: 2018 -Exports of Military Goods and Technology by ECL Item Number and Value (without ECL Item 2-6: "Ground vehicles and components") | 27 |

1. Introduction

The 2018 Report on the Export of Military Goods is tabled in the Parliament of Canada to ensure transparency around Canadian arms exports. It provides information on the export of military goods and technologies from Canada for the 2018 calendar year. This report has been produced voluntarily since 1990. The last edition covered 2017 and was tabled in Parliament on June 8, 2018.

2018 was a landmark year for Canadian arms control. December 2018 marked the passage in Parliament of Bill C-47, *An Act to amend the Export and Import Permits Act and the Criminal Code (amendments permitting the accession to the Arms Trade Treaty and other amendments),* which will result in a number of measures to strengthen Canada's export controls system. The Bill and its regulations are expected to enter into force in mid-2019, and will enable Canada to accede to the Arms Trade Treaty (ATT) this year. Section 3 provides further information on these measures.

This report covers exports in 2018 of goods and technology designed for military purposes. It does not include data on exports of dual-use or other sensitive items controlled for export. Data for this report is assembled following the end of the calendar year, and verified against information received from Canadian industry. Information on how military items are defined for the purposes of export controls is provided below.

Global Affairs Canada does not currently collect data on most military exports to the United States. Proposed regulations to implement Bill C-47 will introduce a requirement for permits for the export of ATT-listed full-system conventional weapons to the U.S. For those items that currently require a permit for export to the U.S., data on the number and value of permits utilized was included for the first time in the 2017 Report and is included again this year. Future editions of this report will contain additional information on military exports to the U.S. of Arms Trade Treaty items.

Information on Canadian exports of military goods is also captured in two other key reports: the Annual Report on the Administration of the *Export and Import Permits Act* which is tabled in Parliament (a legal requirement of the *Act*); and Canada's submission to the United Nations Register of Conventional Arms (UNROCA). Once Canada becomes a member of the ATT, relevant information will also be available through Canada's annual report to the ATT Secretariat.

Global Affairs Canada welcomes suggestions on how to improve future editions of this report. To submit any suggestions, please contact the Export Controls Policy Division at Global Affairs Canada: expctrlpol@international.gc.ca.

Summary of Key Data

- For the 2018 calendar year, Canada's total exports permitted under the *Export and Import Permits Act* of military goods and technology amounted to approximately \$2.069 billion, which is over double the value of 2017 exports (\$1.031 billion).
- The major share (\$1.393 billion or 67.35%) went to countries included on Canada's Automatic Firearms Country Control List (AFCCL) that are not also NATO members (see Annex B for the list of AFCCL countries). This is reflective of the fact that export opportunities and growth markets are increasingly outside our NATO partners.

- Saudi Arabia was the largest non-U.S. export destination in 2018, receiving approximately \$1.282 billion in Canadian military exports (accounting for 61.96% of the total value of non-U.S. military exports).
 - To note: an estimated half of all Canadian exports are to the U.S. The numbers above exclude these exports.
- Belgium was the second largest non-U.S. destination of Canadian military exports, receiving approximately \$153.93 million in military exports (accounting for 7.44% of all non-U.S. military exports from Canada).
 - To note: an estimated half of all Canadian exports are to the U.S. The numbers above exclude these exports.
- Six other NATO countries were in the top ten destinations for the same period: Turkey, the United Kingdom, France, Spain, Germany and Italy.
- The majority of Canada's military exports consisted of ground vehicles and their components which accounted for 67.8% of all controlled military exports in 2018 (\$1.48 billion).
 - To note: an estimated half of all Canadian exports are to the U.S. The numbers above exclude these exports.
- Timelines for processing permits were longer overall in 2018, as the Government introduced new and more rigorous governance and risk assessment processes to implement the ATT requirements. This resulted in a year-on-year 12% decrease in the number of application processed within the established service standard (94% in 2017 to 82% in 2018).

Table 1: 2018 – Total Value of Exports for Military Goods and Technology by NATO and AFCCL Destinations ¹

| Destination | Value | Percentage |
|---|--------------------|------------|
| NATO Destinations | \$566,399,663.70 | 27.38% |
| Non-NATO AFCCL | \$1,393,058,279.26 | 67.35% |
| Other | \$109,098,084.47 | 5.27% |
| Total Non-U.S. Exports of Military Goods and Technology | \$2,068,556,027.43 | 100.00% |

¹ All tables and charts reporting the value of exports, show the value in Canadian dollars of actual exports in 2018 as opposed to the value of permits issued.





Table 2: 2018 – Export Permits Utilized and Actual Value (in CAD) of Exports by Region³

| Region | Number of Permits | Value of Exports |
|-----------------------------------|-------------------|--------------------|
| Africa ⁴ | 54 | \$14,945,789.11 |
| Americas (not including the U.S.) | 39 | \$8,558,017.00 |
| Asia-Pacific | 404 | \$113,395,766.22 |
| Europe | 1330 | \$599,547,059.56 |
| Middle East | 415 | \$1,332,109,395.54 |
| Total | 2242 | \$2,068,556,027.43 |

² Chart 1 reflects <u>all</u> controlled military exports and not just those governed by the AFCCL. Note that all NATO members except Montenegro are also listed on Canada's AFCCL.

³ Utilized Export Permits may include permits that were issued in previous years, but which were exported against in 2018. The total number of permits "issued" in 2018 may be found in Table 5.

⁴ Includes Egypt and countries of the Maghreb.



Chart 2: 2018 - Export Value of non-U.S. Military Goods and Technology – Percentage by Region

Table 3: 2018 – Canada's Top Ten Non-U.S. Destinations for Military Goods and Technology

| Destination | Total Value | Percentage |
|----------------------|--------------------|------------|
| Saudi Arabia | \$1,281,689,195.50 | 61.96% |
| Belgium | \$153,930,521.58 | 7.44% |
| Turkey | \$115,743,236.98 | 5.60% |
| United Kingdom | \$75,197,399.54 | 3.64% |
| France | \$62,928,136.73 | 3.04% |
| Spain | \$56,093,276.40 | 2.71% |
| Australia | \$52,737,564.73 | 2.55% |
| Germany | \$45,225,054.28 | 2.19% |
| United Arab Emirates | \$25,337,956.77 | 1.22% |
| Italy | \$22,895,895.55 | 1.11% |

2. Canada's Policy on Military Exports

Export Controls

The Government of Canada has taken action to strengthen Canada's export controls, which are among the most rigorous in the world and are in line with those of our principal allies and partners in the major export controls regimes. A key priority of Canada's foreign policy is the maintenance of peace and security. To this end, the Government of Canada strives to ensure that, among other policy goals, Canadian exports are not prejudicial to human rights, peace, security or stability in any region of the world or within any country.

This policy is implemented primarily through Canada's system of export controls, as legislated by the *Export and Import Permits Act* (EIPA). This law requires those who wish to export from Canada any items included on the <u>Export Control List</u> (ECL) to obtain, prior to shipment, an export permit issued by

Global Affairs Canada.⁵ The ECL includes military, dual-use, and strategic goods and technology, all U.S.-origin goods and technology, and a limited number of items that are controlled for economic reasons and in compliance with Canada's international trade agreements and obligations.

Canada prohibits the export of arms and related materiel to countries that are under United Nations Security Council arms embargos via the *United Nations Act*, and also has autonomous sanctions in place against specific countries under the *Special Economic Measures Act*, ⁶ which prohibit the export of specific goods and technology to those countries and/or to listed individuals and entities within those countries.

Canada also prohibits the sale of automatic firearms to countries that are not on Canada's Automatic Firearms Country Control List (AFCCL) as established under the authority of the EIPA. Furthermore, the EIPA also provides for an Area Control List (ACL), a list of countries to which the Governor-in-Council deems it necessary to control the export or transfer of any goods or technology. More information on the ACL and AFCCL can be found in Annexes A and B.

Canada's ECL is based on our participation in the major export control multilateral regimes (explained further in Annexes D and E). Canada's export controls are not meant to hinder international trade unnecessarily, but to regulate and impose restrictions on exports in response to clear policy objectives. As outlined above, these objectives include ensuring that Canadian export controls are consistent with Canada's foreign and defence policies, including respect for human rights and international peace and security.

Military Goods and Technology

The military goods and technology described in this report are those included in Group 2 (Munitions List) of the ECL. Items listed in Group 2 are "specially designed or modified for military use."

Group 2 (Munitions List) goods and technologies include such items as ground vehicles, firearms, ammunition and imaging equipment made specifically for military use. The full list of these items is included in Table 8. Other controlled items appearing elsewhere on the ECL (such as dual-use and strategic items) are not featured in this report as they are not specially designed for military use.

Military goods and technology listed in Group 2 of the ECL generally are exported for one or more of the following purposes:

- sales to military and, in some cases, police forces or other government agencies;
- sales of parts and components for the production of new goods;
- inter-company transfers to affiliates in foreign countries
- following repairs of military equipment for foreign customers, and shipments of spare parts;
- sales to private individuals (particularly for firearms).⁷

Canada's defence, security and aerospace industries provide the Canadian Armed Forces, as well as the armed forces of our allies and partners, with the equipment, munitions and spare parts necessary to

⁵ More information about Canada's export controls, including the publication "A Guide to Canada's Export Controls", which contains the Export Control List, can be found at <u>www.exportcontrols.gc.ca</u>.

⁶ More information about economic sanctions imposed by Canada, including arms embargoes against a number of countries, can be found at <u>https://www.international.gc.ca/world-monde/international_relations-</u> relations_internationales/sanctions/index.aspx?lang=eng

⁷ Subsection 84(1) of the *Criminal Code* provides definitions of "non-restricted firearm" and "restricted firearm".

meet operational needs. It also makes a valuable contribution to the nation's prosperity and employs tens of thousands of Canadians, develops high-technology products and is closely integrated with counterparts in allied countries.

Export Permit Assessment Process

Under export control policy guidelines approved in 1986 by Cabinet, Canada closely controls the export of military goods and technology to countries:

- that pose a threat to Canada and its allies;
- that are involved in or under imminent threat of hostilities;
- that are under United Nations Security Council sanctions; or
- whose governments have a persistent record of serious violations of the human rights of their citizens, unless it can be demonstrated that there is no reasonable risk that the goods might be used against the civilian population.

Additional policy goals of Canada's overall export controls regime include:

- ensuring that exports do not contribute to the development of nuclear, biological or chemical weapons of mass destruction, or of their delivery systems;
- ensuring that exports are consistent with Canada's existing economic sanction provisions; and
- mitigating the possibility of unauthorized transfer or diversion of the exported goods and technology.

Bill C-47, which is expected to enter into force in mid-2019, introduces several explicit assessment criteria and a substantial risk test, as laid out in Article 7 of the Arms Trade Treaty. These criteria are already being used to assess export permit applications, and include an evaluation as to whether the item could be used to:

- contribute to or undermine peace and security;
- commit or facilitate a serious violation of international humanitarian or human rights law;
- commit or facilitate terrorism or transnational organized crime; or
- commit or facilitate serious acts of either gender-based violence or violence against women and children.

All applications to export goods or technology are carefully reviewed against the criteria listed above, including the ATT criteria, through wide-ranging consultations among geographic, human rights, international security and defence-industry experts at Global Affairs Canada (including at Canada's overseas diplomatic missions), the Department of National Defence, Innovation, Science and Economic Development Canada, and, as necessary, other government departments and agencies. Any concerns raised through this process are then closely evaluated, including whether a substantial risk exists with respect to any of the ATT criteria. Through this process, export permit applications are assessed for any risk they pose with respect to the policy objectives laid out above.

A key consideration in the review of each application is the end-use and end-user of the exported article. Careful attention is paid to end-use documentation in an effort to ensure that the export is intended for a legitimate end-user and will not be diverted to ends that could threaten the security of Canada, its allies, other countries or civilians. Where a risk is identified, additional end-use assurances or transparency measures may be sought before a permit is issued.

Notes on the Export of Firearms

In terms of the quantity of permits issued, most firearms exports from Canada are intended for sporting or other recreational use and not for military purposes. Permit applications are assessed for the risk that items may be diverted into the illegal arms trade or used to fuel local violence. Canadian diplomatic missions and other sources may provide information about destination countries' firearms control laws, procedures and enforcement practices, and are often called upon to validate import permits and licences, end-user assurances, and consignee information.

Certain prohibited firearms, weapons, devices, or components thereof that are included on the Export Control List may be exported only to countries listed on the Automatic Firearms Country Control List and then only to consignees that are government entities or are authorized by government entities.⁸ The full list of countries on the AFCCL may be found in Annex B.

Note that the changes in Bill C-47 to Canada's export controls framework will not amend any legislation, regulations or policies related to firearm ownership and domestic transfers in Canada.

International Cooperation on Military Trade

Multilateral action is an important means of promoting international peace and security. Canada supports and participates in a range of arms control and non-proliferation activities, working closely with partners who share our objectives.⁹

Further information can be found in:

Annex D

• United Nations Register of Conventional Arms

Annex E

- Wassenaar Arrangement
- Nuclear Suppliers Group
- Missile Technology Control Regime
- Australia Group
- Organization for the Prohibition of Chemical Weapons
- Arms Trade Treaty

3. Developments in 2018

In October 2018, the Government announced a review of arms exports to Saudi Arabia. It was also announced that no new export permits for Saudi Arabia would be approved during this review.

⁸ Subsection 84(1) of the *Criminal Code* provides definitions of "prohibited firearm", "prohibited weapon" and "prohibited device".

⁹ More information about Canada's non-proliferation and disarmament policies can be found at <u>http://international.gc.ca/world-monde/issues_development-enjeux_developpement/peace_security-paix_securite/nonproliferation.aspx?lang=eng</u>

Bill C-47: An Act to amend the Export and Import Permits Act and the Criminal Code

In April 2017, the Honourable Chrystia Freeland, Minister of Foreign Affairs, introduced Bill C-47, "An Act to amend the Export and Import Permits Act and the Criminal Code (amendments permitting the accession to the Arms Trade Treaty and other amendments)". Bill C-47 makes the legislative amendments required by the ATT to regulate arms brokering in Canada and by Canadians abroad. It was further strengthened in 2018 to create a requirement for the Minister of Foreign Affairs to take into account the assessment criteria identified in the ATT, and to add the substantial risk test. It received Royal Assent on December 13, 2018.

Arms Trade Treaty Assessment Criteria and Substantial Risk Test

Under the changes to the *Export and Import Permit Act* in Bill C-47, the Minister of Foreign Affairs shall be legally required to take into account the Arms Trade Treaty assessment criteria for both export and brokering permit applications for the potential that the goods or technology specified in the application:

- would contribute to peace and security or undermine it; and
- could be used to commit or facilitate
 - o a serious violation of international humanitarian law,
 - o a serious violation of international human rights law,
 - an act constituting an offence under international conventions or protocols relating to terrorism to which Canada is a party,
 - an act constituting an offence under international conventions or protocols relating to transnational organized crime to which Canada is a party, or
 - serious acts of gender-based violence or serious acts of violence against women and children.

Under the amended Act, the Minister shall not issue an export or brokering permit if, after taking into account all relevant considerations, including available mitigating measures, he or she determines that there is a substantial risk that the proposed transaction would result in any of the negative consequences referred to in the ATT assessment criteria. For there to be a substantial risk, there should be a connection, based on compelling evidence, between the negative consequences and the specific goods or technology proposed for export or brokering.

The Government acted on concerns raised during Parliament's study of Bill C-47 and amended the legislation so that ATT assessment criteria, which were originally intended to be placed in regulation, were included directly in the Act. Canada is one of the few countries to have legislated the specific considerations identified in Article 7 of the ATT. Going beyond the Treaty's requirements, Bill C-47 placed gender-based violence and violence against women and children on equal footing with the other ATT considerations. In addition, the government added a risk test (mandated by the ATT) directly into the Act. The substantial risk test and the above ATT assessment criteria will be applied to export and brokering permits for strategic goods and technology included in the Export Control List and in the Brokering Control List.

Other developments in Canada's export control program resulting from Bill C-47 include:

- Setting May 31 as the date by which the Minister of Foreign Affairs must table in both Houses of Parliament this report along with the accompanying *Annual Report on the Administration of the Export and Import Permits Act*
- Increasing the maximum fine for a summary-conviction offence to \$250,000;

 Changing the requirement for adding countries to the Automatic Firearms Country Control List (AFCCL), such that countries may be added upon the recommendation of the Minister of Foreign Affairs after consultation with the Minister of National Defence, rather than requiring a bilateral intergovernmental defence, research, development and production arrangement be in place between Canada and the country (see Annex B for further information on the AFCCL).

Bill C-47 is anticipated to come into force, along with the corresponding package of regulations, in the summer of 2019.

Brokering Controls

Another key development in Canada's export controls program will be the establishment of new brokering controls. Article 10 of the ATT requires signatories to take measures to regulate the brokering of arms taking place under its jurisdiction. With Bill C-47, Parliament agreed to control the brokering activities of persons and organizations in Canada, and also of Canadians abroad (citizens, permanent residents and organizations).

Brokering will be defined as "arranging or negotiating a transaction that relates to the movement of goods or technology included in a Brokering Control List from a foreign country to another foreign country." The Brokering Control List, which comprises all items for which a permit will be required prior to engaging in a brokering transaction, includes full-system conventional arms (as defined in Article 2 of the ATT) and all items listed in Group 2 (Munitions List) of the ECL, as well as ECL items, including dual-use items, with a likely weapons of mass destruction end-use.

The following are excluded from control: transfers between affiliates of a corporation, and transactions undertaken by Canadians abroad who are directed by their non-Canadian employer. However, these exemptions do not exist where the item being brokered is a full-system conventional arm within the scope of the ATT. Additionally, administrative and auxiliary services, such as transport, financing and insurance, among others, will not be captured by the new brokering controls. The Government is also developing a general brokering permit to streamline the authorization of brokering involving transactions to low-risk countries (see Annex F).

For more information about the forthcoming controls please consult the brokering regulations.

Future editions of this report will include data on the types, values, and destinations of the controlled military items subject to Canada's brokering controls.

Reporting on ATT Items Exported to the United States

During the debates on Bill C-47 and ATT accession, a number of parliamentarians and civil society stakeholders asked for increased transparency in reporting on controlled exports to the United States. At the same time, industry stakeholders noted that the easy movement of most controlled items between Canada and the United States is vital to the preservation of Canada's close defence relationship with the U.S. and to the viability of Canada's defence, security and aerospace industries. In response to this discussion, the Government of Canada committed to looking at ways to increase transparency while maintaining the competitiveness of Canadian businesses.

Therefore, as part of the regulatory package to implement Bill C-47, Canada is proposing a regulatory amendment that would create a new Group in the ECL (Group 9), which would list all items that fall under the scope of the ATT and impose a permit requirement to export these items to the United States (there already exists a permit requirement to export these items to all other destinations). These items are defined in Article 2 of the ATT as the following full-system conventional arms:

- battle tanks;
- armoured combat vehicles;
- large-calibre artillery systems;
- combat aircraft;
- attack helicopters;
- warships;
- missiles and missile launchers; and
- small arms and light weapons when destined for police and/or military end-use.

The amendment to the ECL will be accompanied by a new General Export Permit (*GEP-47: Export of Arms Trade Treaty Items to the United States*). This will allow Canadian exporters to use the General Export Permit instead of applying for individual permits when exporting Group 9 items to the U.S. The GEP would require exporters to notify the Government of Canada of their intent to use the GEP and to report twice a year on any permanent exports (i.e. items that will not be returned to Canada within two years) of Group 9 items. Together these two regulatory amendments will allow Canada to increase transparency in the reporting of military exports without unduly burdening Canadian businesses.

For more information about these regulations please consult the Export Controls website.

Public Consultations on the Strengthening of Canada's Export Controls Regime

In preparation for the entry into force of Bill C-47, Global Affairs Canada is reviewing its regulations, policies and procedures to ensure they are in line with and support Canada's accession to the ATT. As part of this review, the Government of Canada conducted public consultations between December 13, 2018, and January 31, 2019, to seek input from Canadians on the proposed strengthening of Canada's export controls program.

The objectives of this consultation were to:

- ensure that stakeholder views are taken into consideration as the government works to strengthen Canada's export controls program;
- inform how the Government of Canada will apply the ATT assessment criteria and substantial risk test when reviewing permit applications for the export or brokering of controlled items;
- guide the development of new brokering controls;
- understand the impact of the proposed changes on Canadian exporters; and
- identify elements of Canada's existing export controls system that are important to its effective functioning.

Stakeholder feedback was collected by way of an online questionnaire as well as through webinars, oneon-one meetings, teleconferences, and in-person group sessions held across Canada in: Halifax, Ottawa, Toronto, Montreal, Calgary and Richmond, BC. Government officials held 13 in-person consultation sessions, 2 webinar sessions (with over 190 participants), and 17 one-on-one meetings with stakeholders from industry and civil society.

Export and Import Permits Act Judicial Reviews

There were two ongoing judicial reviews in relation to Group 2 (Munitions List) export permits during the 2018 calendar year:

Daniel Turp c. La Ministre Des Affaires Étrangères (1st Judicial Review)

In a Judgment rendered on July 6, 2018, Justice Nadon of the Federal Court of Appeal re-confirmed the legality of the decision of the Minister of Foreign Affairs to issue export permits for Light Armoured Vehicles to Saudi Arabia, thereby dismissing Mr. Turp's appeal. On September 28, 2018, Mr. Turp filed an application for leave to appeal with the Supreme Court of Canada which was denied by the Supreme Court on April 11, 2019.

Daniel Turp c. La Ministre Des Affaires Étrangères (2nd Judicial Review)

In a Judgment rendered on January 9, 2018, Justice Martineau of the Federal Court dismissed a motion by the Minister to strike Mr. Turp's second application for judicial review of the Minister's decision to export Light Armoured Vehicles to Saudi Arabia. The proceedings are currently stayed.

Permit Denials

In 2018, four applications for permits to export military, dual-use, and strategic goods or technology was denied for reasons pertaining to Canada's foreign and defence policy.

It is important to note that each year, a number of permit applications are withdrawn at the request of the exporter if the company becomes aware, or is otherwise informed, of commercial, political or other types of risk that may affect their application and decides not to pursue the commercial opportunity. For the number of export permit applications withdrawn in 2018 please see Table 5.

| ECL Number | Destination | Reason for Denial |
|------------|----------------------|----------------------------|
| 2-10 | United Arab Emirates | Foreign and defence policy |
| 1-6. | China | Foreign and defence policy |
| 1-6. | China | Foreign and defence policy |
| 1-6. | China | Foreign and defence policy |

Table 4: 2018 - Export Permit Denials of Military, Dual-Use and Strategic Goods and Technology ¹⁰

4. Military Export Statistics

The statistics contained in this report are obtained from permit utilization reporting, which must be provided to Global Affairs Canada consistent with the conditions listed on export permits for military goods and technology. The data displayed below include the country of destination, a description of the goods exported and their value in Canadian dollars.

Further details related to export transactions (for example, names of exporting companies, values of individual contracts and transactions, and details of the specific technologies being exported) are protected due to the commercially confidential nature of such information.

Export controls apply to all foreign destinations. However, due to Canada's close and long-standing military cooperation with the United States, including the 1956 Defence Production Sharing

¹⁰ See Canada's "Guide to the Export Control List" (see <u>www.exportcontrols.gc.ca</u>) for examples of ECL items listed under the ECL numbers outlined in Table 4.

Agreement, which underpins the integrated nature of North America's defence industry, Canada and the United States have reciprocal arrangements to ensure permit-free/license-free movement of most military items between our two countries. For Canada, this has meant permit exemptions for most Group 2 (Munitions List) exports destined to the United States. Consequently, Global Affairs Canada currently does not collect data on most exports of military goods and technology to the United States, except for the small sub-set of goods, such as prohibited firearms, related parts and ammunition, and select items controlled under ECL number 2-4, for which permits are required (see Table 11). Upon entry into force of Bill C-47 and its associated regulations, permits will also be required for the export to the United States of ATT-listed, full-system conventional weapons. A General Export Permit (GEP) will be created to authorize these exports on the condition that exporters report against any actual exports on a semi-annual basis.

Data on Canadian military exports may be available from other sources such as Statistics Canada. These figures are derived from data collected by the Canada Border Services Agency based on the Harmonized Commodity Description Coding System (HS), and may include non-military goods such as: commercial computers; civil-certified aircraft; guns and ammunition designed exclusively for industrial uses, such as the lighting of gas flares at oil wells; or other civilian equipment. Since there is no direct correlation between the commodity codes used by Statistics Canada and the ECL numbers, and because each source uses different methods of data collection, a meaningful comparison of the information from these sources is not possible.

An internationally accepted standard for statistics on worldwide military trade is United Nations Register of Conventional Arms (UNROCA) (see Annex D). The Register quantifies the number of complete weapon systems permanently exported and does not include parts, components or the wide assortment of non-lethal support systems (such as radar equipment, simulators and software designed for military use) that make up a significant component of Canada's military exports. Since 1991, Canada has consistently submitted annual voluntary reports to UNROCA. Once Canada becomes a State Party to the ATT, it will provide a similar public report on the export and import of ATT-listed fullsystem conventional arms. Based on the new regulatory changes, these reports will also include data on exports of full-system conventional arms to the U.S.

Global Affairs Canada also produces an Annual Report to Parliament on the "Administration of the *Export and Import Permits Act*," which is a statutory requirement in the EIPA. This report provides an overview of permit data and service standards, which includes Group 2 (Munitions List) permits. Following tabling in Parliament, this report is also available at <u>http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/report-rapports/index.aspx?lang=eng</u>.

Data Interpretation Notes

The following data interpretation notes apply:

i) Procurement contracts awarded by governments may have very high values and extended delivery schedules; a single contract may account for a large share of total military exports in a given year or over multiple years. Major changes in totals from one year to another may be explained by the beginning or end of a small number of large contracts.

ii) Other than Table 11, the data presented does not include exports of military goods to the U.S.

iii) The ECL item numbers used are explained with illustrative examples. The full ECL, which consists of detailed descriptions of all goods and technology controlled under the EIPA, can be found in "A Guide to Canada's Export Controls", which is available at <u>www.exportcontrols.gc.ca</u>.

iv) Readers will notice that some of the totals vary between tables. For instance, Table 6 reports annual values of total exports of military goods and technology by destination country; whereas Annex G breaks down the value of exports to individual countries according to the ECL item number. However, the sum total of exports by ECL item number to an individual country calculated from Table 10 may be greater than the total value of exports to that destination reported in Table 6. This is because goods or technology included in a single export permit may be classified under multiple ECL item numbers. Table 9, Annex G and Chart 4; therefore, contain some double-counting, which inflates the actual value of total exports.

v) Table 8 references exports of "technology" controlled under item 2-22 of the ECL. Exports of this nature often cannot be easily quantified. For this reason, "lots" rather than unit quantities are commonly used where exports of technology may be transferred via different intangible means (such as through meetings or emails). For zero-value technology transactions, a nominal value (e.g. \$50 or under) is assigned. The inclusion of such data within this report is consistent with past practice.

vi) A multi-destination permit (or MDP) allows exports to multiple countries under a single permit. Group 2 MDPs only allow exports to like-minded countries that are members of the export control regimes to which Canada is party, and that have an effective system of export controls. MDPs are offered to exporters who have an exporting history with Global Affairs Canada. These exporters have implemented defined due diligence processes and procedures when planning, marketing and shipping ECL items to foreign clients to ensure a reasonable level of assurance that goods or technology will not be exported to unauthorized or illegitimate end-uses or end-users. The values exported under MDPs are included in all the tables reporting the total value of military exports. However, Tables 2, 7, and 11, along with Chart 3, do not include the number of MDPs utilized per destination as a single permit can cover exports to multiple destinations.

vii) The number of Group 2 permits issued in 2018 (reported in Table 5 as 3560) does not equal the number of Group 2 permits utilized in 2018 (reported in Table 7 as 2242) because a single permit issued in any given year can be valid for up to a period up to five years and be exported against during any of the years in which it is valid.

viii) Exporters are not required to submit permit utilization reports to Global Affairs Canada for Group 2 exports where no value is being transferred. Examples include exports where goods were sent to Canada for warranty repair, and are being returned to the original owner; exports where goods were sent to Canada for testing, demonstration or trials, and are being returned; the return to foreign owners of controlled goods borrowed or leased by a Canadian company (e.g., deactivated automatic firearms used as movie props); exports of faulty or discrepant material; or exports of goods for destructive testing. Exports of such nature are omitted from this report.

Table 5: 2018 - Summary of Export Permits by all ECL Groups¹¹

| | Submitted Applications | Returned Without Action | Withdrawn | Cancelled or Suspended | Issued Permits | Denied |
|---|---------------------------|-------------------------------|-----------|---------------------------|-------------------|-----------------|
| Group 1 (Dual-Use List) | 1451 | 56 | 46 | 20 | 1329 | 0 ¹² |
| Group 2 (Munitions List) | 3946 | 100 | 199 | 86 | 3560 | 1 |
| Group 3 (Nuclear Non- Proliferation List) | 133 | 4 | 2 | 3 | 124 | 0 |
| Group 4 (Nuclear-Related Dual-Use List) | 114 | 2 | 0 | 0 | 112 | 0 |
| Group 5 (Miscellaneous Goods and Technology) | 249 | 7 | 57 | 2 | 183 | 0 |
| Group 6 (Missile Technology Control Regime List) | 97 | 2 | 2 | 4 | 89 | 0 |
| Group 7 (Chemical and Biological Weapons Non-Proliferation List) | 67 | 2 | 1 | 1 | 63 | 0 |
| Others ¹³ | 481 | 75 | 397 | 3 | 6 | 0 |
| Totals | 6538 | 248 | 704 | 119 | 5466 | 1 |

¹¹ The data in this table is also reported in the 2018 "Annual Report to Parliament on the Administration of the *Export and Import Permits Act.*" Data is drawn from the Export Controls Online (EXCOL), an online database used to process export permit applications. The information on EXCOL is not publically available. Unlike the information presented elsewhere in this report, which only covers Group 2 (Munitions List) items, this table covers all export permit applications submitted in 2018 for all control groups. Group 2 (Munitions List) is highlighted. ¹² The three Group 1 denials reported in Table 4 were submitted prior to 2018.

¹³ The category "other" includes applications that were not assigned to an ECL Group either because they were withdrawn or returned without action prior to an assessment being conducted, were issued in error and subsequently cancelled, or because the item in question required a permit for export to a destination listed on the Area Control List.

Notes for Table 5

Returned without action: A permit application is returned without action by Global Affairs Canada if it is administratively incomplete, or if there is inconsistent information. A company that still wishes to pursue the export would be required to submit a new permit application.

Withdrawn: Permit applications may be withdrawn either at the request of the exporter (e.g., if the permit is no longer required because the commercial deal falls through or if the company becomes aware of political, commercial, or other types of risk that may affect their application, and decides not to pursue the opportunity), or by Global Affairs Canada (e.g., if the goods or technology proposed for export are not controlled, the items are controlled but a permit is not required for their export to the U.S., or if a General Export Permit applies). In 2018, a total of 17 applications for Group 2 (military) items were withdrawn by Global Affairs Canada because a permit was not required for one of the reasons listed above. The remaining 182 withdrawals were at the request of the company, because they had decided not to pursue the export opportunity.

Cancelled: An export permit that has been issued may be cancelled for administrative reasons (e.g., at the request of applicant as the permit is no longer required, or due to an error on the permit requiring replacement by a new permit), or by direction of the Minister of Foreign Affairs. An export permit that has been cancelled is no longer valid for the export of goods or technology.

Issued: Means a permit has been approved and issued. If a permit was issued in 2018 and is subsequently cancelled, it is only counted once in the cancelled column.

Denied: Means a permit that was denied by the Minister of Foreign Affairs, either directly or further to policy direction received by officials. This occurs in fewer than 1% of cases annually, and is generally for reasons of Canada's foreign and defence policy, as provided in the criteria for controlling the export of military, dual use and strategic goods outlined above. Information on denials is reported in Table 4.

| Destination | Total Value (\$CAD) | Percentage |
|-----------------------------|---------------------|------------|
| Afghanistan | \$22,122.00 | 0.00% |
| Algeria | \$334,438.97 | 0.02% |
| Argentina | \$10,291.30 | 0.00% |
| Australia | \$52,737,564.73 | 2.55% |
| Austria | \$182,121.86 | 0.01% |
| Bahrain | \$738,750.00 | 0.04% |
| Bangladesh | \$2,126.10 | 0.00% |
| Belarus | \$9,122.37 | 0.00% |
| Belgium | \$153,930,521.58 | 7.44% |
| Belize | \$34,625.00 | 0.00% |
| Botswana | \$2,557,044.00 | 0.12% |
| Brazil | \$326,086.00 | 0.02% |
| Brunei Darussalam | \$7,190.08 | 0.00% |
| Bulgaria | \$53,454.20 | 0.00% |
| Chile | \$4,415,547.84 | 0.21% |
| China | \$2,770.22 | 0.00% |
| Colombia | \$310,576.25 | 0.02% |
| Costa Rica | \$12,992.25 | 0.00% |
| Curaçao | \$76,000.00 | 0.00% |
| Cyprus | \$48,980.00 | 0.00% |
| Czech Republic | \$602,308.29 | 0.03% |
| Denmark | \$3,249,087.41 | 0.16% |
| Djibouti | \$515,000.00 | 0.02% |
| Egypt | \$20,265.00 | 0.00% |
| Estonia | \$1,067.74 | 0.00% |
| Falkland Islands (Malvinas) | \$4,880.00 | 0.00% |
| Finland | \$1,550,646.01 | 0.07% |
| France | \$62,928,136.73 | 3.04% |
| French Polynesia | \$649.98 | 0.00% |
| Germany | \$45,225,054.28 | 2.19% |
| Ghana | \$700.00 | 0.00% |
| Gibraltar | \$1,437.96 | 0.00% |
| Greece | \$14,863.00 | 0.00% |
| Greenland | \$2,634.39 | 0.00% |
| Guyana | \$64,183.00 | 0.00% |
| Haiti | \$891.77 | 0.00% |
| Hong Kong | \$20,580.00 | 0.00% |

Table 6: 2018 – Export Value of Military Goods and Technology to all non-U.S. Destinations¹⁴

¹⁴ Percentage values of "0.00" appear when the percentage falls below 0.004% of the total value.

| Destination | Total Value (\$CAD) | Percentage |
|----------------------------|---------------------|------------|
| Hungary | \$121,920.36 | 0.01% |
| Iceland | \$1,671.12 | 0.00% |
| India | \$1,045,655.61 | 0.05% |
| Indonesia | \$5,788,853.43 | 0.28% |
| Iraq | \$658.59 | 0.00% |
| Ireland | \$19,581.00 | 0.00% |
| Israel | \$15,950,952.12 | 0.77% |
| Italy | \$22,895,895.55 | 1.11% |
| Japan | \$20,772,298.88 | 1.00% |
| Jordan | \$2,682,287.16 | 0.13% |
| Kazakhstan | \$1,231,954.91 | 0.06% |
| Kenya | \$124,253.96 | 0.01% |
| Korea (South), Republic of | \$12,694,422.21 | 0.61% |
| Kuwait | \$101,219.80 | 0.00% |
| Lebanon | \$68,607.00 | 0.00% |
| Luxembourg | \$4,424,032.90 | 0.21% |
| Madagascar | \$1,513.95 | 0.00% |
| Malaysia | \$452,519.83 | 0.02% |
| Mexico | \$2,657,463.84 | 0.13% |
| Morocco | \$7,119,295.00 | 0.34% |
| Netherlands | \$13,623,675.82 | 0.66% |
| New Caledonia | \$84,736.42 | 0.00% |
| New Zealand | \$5,326,300.26 | 0.26% |
| Niger | \$37,448.16 | 0.00% |
| Nigeria | \$417,390.00 | 0.02% |
| North Macedonia | \$700.00 | 0.00% |
| Norway | \$7,562,214.86 | 0.37% |
| Oman | \$214,725.54 | 0.01% |
| Peru | \$629,046.36 | 0.03% |
| Philippines | \$175,497.00 | 0.01% |
| Poland | \$4,285,495.15 | 0.21% |
| Portugal | \$59,523.50 | 0.00% |
| Qatar | \$5,325,043.06 | 0.26% |
| Romania | \$335,011.43 | 0.02% |
| Russian Federation | \$2,526.92 | 0.00% |
| Saudi Arabia | \$1,281,689,195.50 | 61.96% |
| Singapore | \$7,867,535.07 | 0.38% |
| Slovakia | \$10,923.96 | 0.00% |
| Slovenia | \$40,892.90 | 0.00% |
| South Africa | \$3,785,944.42 | 0.18% |

| Destination | Total Value (\$CAD) | Percentage |
|--------------------------|---------------------|------------|
| Spain | \$56,093,276.40 | 2.71% |
| Sweden | \$9,834,545.89 | 0.48% |
| Switzerland | \$16,236,515.56 | 0.78% |
| Taiwan | \$1,258,482.19 | 0.06% |
| Thailand | \$3,904,507.30 | 0.19% |
| Tunisia | \$28,101.45 | 0.00% |
| Turkey | \$115,743,236.98 | 5.60% |
| Turks and Caicos Islands | \$12,799.00 | 0.00% |
| Uganda | \$4,394.20 | 0.00% |
| Ukraine | \$5,261,218.29 | 0.25% |
| United Arab Emirates | \$25,337,956.77 | 1.22% |
| United Kingdom | \$75,197,399.54 | 3.64% |
| Total | \$2,068,556,027.43 | 100.00% |

Chart 3: 2018 - <u>Utilized Export Permits</u> to non-U.S. Destinations_of Military Goods and Technology - Percentage by Region¹⁵



 $^{^{\}rm 15}$ Does not include Multi-Destination Permits. See data note vi. on page 14.

| Destination | Number of Permits Utilized in 2018 | Percentage of Total |
|----------------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------|
| United Kingdom | 327 | 14.59% |
| Israel | 327 | 14.59% |
| Germany | 195 | 8.70% |
| France | 170 | 7.58% |
| Australia | 145 | 6.47% |
| Switzerland | 91 | 4.06% |
| Turkey | 78 | 3.48% |
| Netherlands | 66 | 2.94% |
| Italy | 56 | 2.50% |
| Korea (South), Republic of | 53 | 2.36% |

Table 7: 2018 - Top Ten Destinations by Utilized Export Permits for Military Goods & Technology

Table 8: 2018 - Number of Utilized Export Permits for Military Goods & Technology by Destination¹⁶

| Destination | Number of Permits Utilized in 2018 | Percentage of Total |
|-------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------|
| Afghanistan | 2 | 0.09% |
| Algeria | 3 | 0.13% |
| Argentina | 4 | 0.18% |
| Australia | 145 | 6.47% |
| Austria | 9 | 0.40% |
| Bahrain | 1 | 0.04% |
| Bangladesh | 2 | 0.09% |
| Belarus | 1 | 0.04% |
| Belgium | 31 | 1.38% |
| Belize | 2 | 0.09% |
| Botswana | 4 | 0.18% |
| Brazil | 3 | 0.13% |
| Brunei Darussalam | 3 | 0.13% |
| Bulgaria | 2 | 0.09% |
| Chile | 6 | 0.27% |
| China | 1 | 0.04% |
| Colombia | 1 | 0.04% |
| Costa Rica | 1 | 0.04% |
| Curaçao | 1 | 0.04% |
| Cyprus | 1 | 0.04% |
| Czech Republic | 11 | 0.49% |
| Denmark | 32 | 1.43% |

¹⁶ This table does not contain data from Multi-Destination Permit Exports. See Data Note vi on page 14

| Destination | Number of Permits Utilized in 2018 | Percentage of Total |
|-----------------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------|
| Djibouti | 1 | 0.04% |
| Egypt | 2 | 0.09% |
| Falkland Islands (Malvinas) | 1 | 0.04% |
| Finland | 31 | 1.38% |
| France | 170 | 7.58% |
| French Polynesia | 1 | 0.04% |
| Germany | 195 | 8.70% |
| Ghana | 1 | 0.04% |
| Gibraltar | 2 | 0.09% |
| Greece | 4 | 0.18% |
| Greenland | 2 | 0.09% |
| Guyana | 2 | 0.09% |
| Haiti | 3 | 0.13% |
| Hong Kong | 2 | 0.09% |
| Hungary | 12 | 0.54% |
| Iceland | 2 | 0.09% |
| India | 30 | 1.34% |
| Indonesia | 12 | 0.54% |
| Iraq | 2 | 0.09% |
| Ireland | 5 | 0.22% |
| Israel | 327 | 14.59% |
| Italy | 56 | 2.50% |
| Japan | 51 | 2.27% |
| Jordan | 3 | 0.13% |
| Kazakhstan | 5 | 0.22% |
| Kenya | 1 | 0.04% |
| Korea (South), Republic of | 53 | 2.36% |
| Kuwait | 8 | 0.36% |
| Lebanon | 1 | 0.04% |
| Luxembourg | 12 | 0.54% |
| Madagascar | 1 | 0.04% |
| Malaysia | 3 | 0.13% |
| Mexico | 9 | 0.40% |
| Morocco | 2 | 0.09% |
| Netherlands | 66 | 2.94% |
| New Caledonia | 6 | 0.27% |
| New Zealand | 34 | 1.52% |
| Niger | 1 | 0.04% |
| Nigeria | 8 | 0.36% |
| North Macedonia | 2 | 0.09% |

| Destination | Number of Permits Utilized in 2018 | Percentage of Total |
|--------------------------|------------------------------------|---------------------|
| Norway | 27 | 1.20% |
| Oman | 1 | 0.04% |
| Peru | 3 | 0.13% |
| Philippines | 1 | 0.04% |
| Poland | 36 | 1.61% |
| Portugal | 5 | 0.22% |
| Qatar | 6 | 0.27% |
| Romania | 10 | 0.45% |
| Russian Federation | 5 | 0.22% |
| Saudi Arabia | 36 | 1.61% |
| Singapore | 28 | 1.25% |
| Slovakia | 1 | 0.04% |
| Slovenia | 1 | 0.04% |
| South Africa | 28 | 1.25% |
| Spain | 52 | 2.32% |
| Sweden | 43 | 1.92% |
| Switzerland | 91 | 4.06% |
| Taiwan | 11 | 0.49% |
| Thailand | 14 | 0.62% |
| Tunisia | 1 | 0.04% |
| Turkey | 78 | 3.48% |
| Turks and Caicos Islands | 1 | 0.04% |
| Uganda | 1 | 0.04% |
| Ukraine | 10 | 0.45% |
| United Arab Emirates | 30 | 1.34% |
| United Kingdom | 327 | 14.59% |
| Total | 2242 | 100.00% |

| ECL Item | Illustrative Examples ¹⁷ |
|----------|--|
| 2-1 | Smooth-bore weapons with a calibre of less than 20 mm, other arms and automatic weapons with a calibre of 12.7 mm or less and accessories |
| 2-2 | Smooth-bore weapons with a calibre of 20 mm or more, other weapons or armament with a calibre greater than 12.7 mm, projectors and accessories |
| 2-3 | Ammunition and fuse-setting devices, and specially designed components |
| 2-4 | Bombs, torpedoes, rockets, missiles, other explosive devices and charges, and related equipment and accessories specially designed for military use; and specially designed components |
| 2-5 | Fire control, related alerting and warning equipment, and related systems; test and alignment and countermeasure equipment specially designed for military use; and specially designed components and accessories |
| 2-6 | Ground vehicles and components |
| 2-7 | Chemical or biological toxic agents, riot control agents, radioactive materials, and related equipment, components and materials |
| 2-8 | Energetic materials and related substances |
| 2-9 | Vessels of war, special naval equipment and accessories, and components specially designed for military use |
| 2-10 | Aircraft, lighter-than-air vehicles, unmanned airborne vehicles, aero-engines and aircraft equipment, related equipment and components, specially designed or modified for military use |
| 2-11 | Electronic equipment, military spacecraft and components not controlled elsewhere |
| 2-12 | High-velocity kinetic energy weapon systems and related equipment, and specially designed components |
| 2-13 | Armoured or protective equipment and constructions and components |
| 2-14 | Specialized equipment for military training or for simulating military scenarios, simulators specially designed for training in the use of any firearm or weapon controlled in 2-1 or 2-2, and specially designed components and accessories |

¹⁷ The full list of goods and technology, including precise definitions of the terms used in the table, may be found in A Guide to Canada's Export Controls, available at <u>www.exportcontrols.gc.ca</u>.

| ECL Item | Illustrative Examples ¹⁷ |
|----------|---|
| 2-15 | Imaging or countermeasure equipment, specially designed for military use, and specially designed components and accessories |
| 2-16 | Forgings, castings and other unfinished products the use of which in a controlled product is identifiable by material composition, geometry or function, and which are specially designed for any products controlled in 2-1 to 2-4, 2-6, 2-9, 2-10, 2-12 or 2-19 |
| 2-17 | Miscellaneous equipment, materials, libraries and specially designed components |
| 2-18 | Equipment for the production of products referred to in the Munitions List |
| 2-19 | Directed energy weapon systems, related or countermeasure equipment and test models, and specially designed components |
| 2-20 | Cryogenic and superconductive equipment, and specially designed components and accessories |
| 2-21 | Software |
| 2-22 | Technology |

| ECL Number | Total Value | Percentage |
|------------|--------------------|------------|
| 2-1 | \$45,932,341.34 | 2.09% |
| 2-2 | \$2,429,711.91 | 0.11% |
| 2-3 | \$17,575,446.13 | 0.80% |
| 2-4 | \$14,832,954.90 | 0.68% |
| 2-5 | \$129,643,427.91 | 5.90% |
| 2-6 | \$1,489,143,060.87 | 67.79% |
| 2-7 | \$1,455,518.68 | 0.07% |
| 2-8 | \$254,237.00 | 0.01% |
| 2-9 | \$48,481,690.78 | 2.21% |
| 2-10 | \$83,735,047.08 | 3.81% |
| 2-11 | \$79,844,692.88 | 3.64% |
| 2-12 | \$0.00 | 0.00% |
| 2-13 | \$4,137,318.41 | 0.19% |
| 2-14 | \$48,907,032.17 | 2.23% |
| 2-15 | \$147,625,229.01 | 6.72% |
| 2-16 | \$4,425,515.60 | 0.20% |
| 2-17 | \$9,271,937.02 | 0.42% |
| 2-18 | \$9,390,667.56 | 0.43% |
| 2-19 | \$0.00 | 0.00% |
| 2-20 | \$0.00 | 0.00% |
| 2-21 | \$25,431,577.95 | 1.16% |
| 2-22 | \$34,033,925.77 | 1.55% |

Table 10: 2018 - Exports of Military Goods and Technology by ECL Item Number¹⁸





¹⁸ Data contains some double counting. See data interpretation notes on p.14, note iv.
¹⁹ Data contains some double counting. See data interpretation notes on p.14, note iv.





²⁰ Data contains double counting as some items can be classified under more than one ECL number. See data interpretation notes on p.14, note iv.

Exports to the United States of Certain Group 2 (Munitions List) Controlled Items

As noted in the Introduction, Global Affairs Canada only collects data on military exports to the United States if the item requires a permit to be exported to the United States. These items are listed below.

Because most military goods and technology may be exported to the United States without obtaining an export permit, data on exports of military goods and technology to the United States was not provided in editions of the Military Report prior to 2017. In keeping with improvements made to the 2017 Report, information on the aggregate value of controlled exports and the number of permits utilized for export to the U.S. (i.e. those for which a permit was required) is reported below.

• In 2018, 78 export permits were utilized for the export to the United States of goods controlled under Group 2 (Munitions List) of the ECL. See Table 11 for more detailed information.

Within Group 2 (Munitions List) of the ECL, export permits are required to the United States in the following circumstances:

- All exports to the United States of prohibited firearms controlled under item 2-1 (e.g. automatic weapons) or 2-2 (e.g. weapons with a calibre greater than 12.7mm) of the ECL must be authorized in advance with an export permit. Details on the application process can be found in the Export Controls Handbook at <u>www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/military-militaires/handbook-manuel.aspx?lang=eng&menu_id=78</u>
- Permits are required for the export to the United States of any ammunition controlled under item 2-3 of the ECL that is destined for end-use by police or military agencies. Permits are not required for the export of sporting ammunition.
- Permits are required for the export to the United States of goods controlled under item 2-4.a (e.g. bombs, torpedoes, rockets, missiles etc.) of the Export Control List.

Goods exported from Canada to the U.S. are thereafter subject to U.S. export controls regardless of whether a Canadian export permit was required. Goods exported from Canada through the U.S. to a third country (i.e., transit/transshipment) require a Canadian export permit for the third country when they leave Canada.

Permits are also required for the export to the United States of certain goods controlled on other ECL Groups, including all items on Group 3 (the Nuclear Non-Proliferation List), all items on Group 4 (the Nuclear-related Dual-Use List), most items on Group 5 (Miscellaneous Goods and Technology), and certain items on Group 6 (the Missile Technology Control List) and Group 7 (the Chemical and Biological Weapons Non-Proliferation List).

As part of the Government's commitment to increasing transparency on military exports, future editions of this report will also include data on exports to the U.S. of full-system conventional weapons as listed in the Arms Trade Treaty.

Table 11: 2018 – Number of Permits Utilized and Value Exported for certain Group 2 (Munitions List) Controlled Goods and Technology to the United States

| ECL | Type of goods | Number of Permits Utilized | Value | Notes |
|-----|--|-------------------------------|---------------|---|
| 2-1 | Smooth-bore weapons with a calibre of less than 20 mm, other arms and automatic weapons with a calibre of 12.7 mm (calibre 0.50 inches) or less and accessories, and specially designed components therefor | 48 | \$24,780,351 | - An export permit is required for all prohibited firearms regardless of destination - Both temporary and permanent exports of either Restricted or Non-Restricted firearms to the United States may be made without obtaining an individual export permit. Upon the entry into force, exports of Restricted or Non-Restricted firearms will be authorized by GEP-47 with a reporting requirement for those exports intended for police and/or military end-use. |
| 2-2 | Smooth-bore weapons with a calibre of 20 mm or more, other weapons or armament with a calibre greater than 12.7 mm (calibre 0.50 inches), projectors and accessories, as follows, and specially designed components therefor | 0 | | |
| 2-3 | Ammunition and fuze setting devices, and specially designed components therefor | 5 | \$101,535,664 | - Both temporary and permanent exports of sporting ammunition to the United States may be made without obtaining an individual export permit. Upon its entry into force, such exports will be authorized under GEP-47. |
| 2-4 | Bombs, torpedoes, grenades, smoke canisters, rockets, mines, missiles, depth charges, demolition-charges, demolition-devices, demolition-kits, "pyrotechnic" devices, cartridges and simulators (i.e., equipment simulating the characteristics of any of these items), specially designed for military use; Note that item 2-4 includes: Smoke grenades, fire bombs, incendiary bombs and explosive devices; missile rocket nozzles and re-entry vehicle nosetips. | 25 | \$53,315,732 | The description of this category is taken from control text agreed at the Wassenaar Arrangement. Canada does not manufacture or export "mines". Upon the entry into force of GEP-47, individual export permits will still be required for items controlled under ECL category 2-4a. |
| | Total | 78 | \$179,631,747 | |

5. Service Standard Targets

Further to the information found in the Export Control Handbook (see <u>www.exportcontrols.gc.ca</u>), the processing time for applications for permits to low-risk destinations that contain all required supporting documentation is 10 working days, and for applications for permits to other destinations that contain all required supporting document is 40 working days. The performance target for achieving this standard is set at 90 percent. For a list of destinations considered low-risk please refer to Annex F.

Applications to non-low-risk countries are subject to a more comprehensive assessment process, based on a risk assessment of the items being exported, along with the consignee country, and the intended end-use and end-user. The purpose of these intra- and inter-departmental consultations is to fully assess the risks and implications of proposed exports with respect to considerations around Canada's foreign and defence policy, including human rights, and national security. Various Canadian government departments and agencies, including multiple divisions within Global Affairs Canada and Canada's network of missions abroad, are involved in the consultation process.

When determining if an application has been processed within the allotted service standard, the Department takes into consideration whether the application has been submitted with all the required documentation. The processing time calculation only begins the moment a complete application has been received and no further clarification or supporting documents is required from the exporter. Please note that applications that are withdrawn, returned without action or denied are also counted towards the service standard.

Tables 13 and 14 below show a decrease in the number of export permit applications processed within the service standard. This is attributable to a number of factors including the introduction of new and more rigorous governance and risk assessment processes, capacity constraints as the Government worked to implement a higher risk management threshold, and importantly the unpredictable international security environment and concomitant scrutiny.

More information on service standards can be found in the Export Controls Handbook at: <u>www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/export-exportation/TOC-exp_ctr_handbook-manuel_ctr_exp.aspx?lang=eng</u>

| | 2018 | 2017 |
|----------------------------------|------|------|
| Expedited Assessment Process | 3709 | 3392 |
| Comprehensive Assessment Process | 2829 | 3241 |
| Total | 6538 | 6633 |

Table 12: Export Permit Applications Processed (2017 and 2018)²¹

²¹ The number of applications reported in Table 12 does not only include items in Group 2 of the ECL but also processed applications for all Military, Dual-use and Strategic goods.

 Table 13: 2018 - Global Affairs Canada Service Standards for all Military, Dual-use and Strategic Export

 Permit Applications

| Applications Category and Service Standard | Number of Applications Meeting Service Standard | Number of Applications Not Meeting the Service Standard | Percentage of Applications Meeting Service Standard |
|---|---|---|---|
| Expedited Assessment Process <10 days | 2937 | 772 | 79.19% |
| Comprehensive Assessment Process <40 days | 2455 | 374 | 86.78% |
| Combined Total | 5392 | 1146 | 82.47% |

 Table 14: 2017 - Global Affairs Canada Service Standards for all Military, Dual-use and Strategic Export

 Permit Applications

| Applications Category and Service Standard | Number of Applications Meeting Service Standard | Number of Applications Not Meeting the Service Standard | Percentage of Applications Meeting Service Standard |
|---|---|---|---|
| Expedited Assessment Process <10 days | 3255 | 137 | 95.96% |
| Comprehensive Assessment Process <40 days | 3013 | 228 | 92.96% |
| Combined Total | 6268 | 365 | 94.49% |

6. Annexes

Annex A: Canada's Area Control List (ACL)

The export or transfer of any goods or technology (including technical data, technical assistance and information necessary for the development, production or use of a good) to countries on the ACL is controlled and must be authorized by an export permit issued by the Minister of Foreign Affairs under the authority of the EIPA. Export permits are normally issued only for those goods and technology that respond to humanitarian needs or circumstances.

As of December 31, 2018, the ACL was comprised of one country: the Democratic People's Republic of Korea (North Korea), which was added on July 14, 2010.

Guidance on exports to countries listed on the ACL is published in the following Notice to Exporters, which is available on the internet at: <u>http://www.international.gc.ca/controls-controles/systems-systemes/excol-ceed/notices-avis/172.aspx?lang=eng</u>

Annex B: Canada's Automatic Firearms Country Control List (AFCCL)

Further to Section 4.1 of the EIPA, certain prohibited firearms, weapons, devices, or components thereof that are included on the Export Control List may be exported only to destinations on the AFCCL and only to consignees that are government or authorized by government. These must be approved by an export permit issued by the Minister of Foreign Affairs under the authority of the EIPA.

The following goods and their components and parts, as defined in Section 4.1 of the EIPA and Section 84 of the *Criminal Code*, are subject to the AFCCL, when these items are also included on the Export Control List:

- an automatic firearm, whether or not it has been altered to discharge only one projectile with one pressure of the trigger;
- any firearm that is prescribed by regulation to be a prohibited firearm;
- any weapon, other than a firearm, that is prescribed by regulation to be a prohibited weapon;
- any component or part of a weapon, or any accessory for use with a weapon, that is prescribed by regulation to be a prohibited device;
- a cartridge magazine that is prescribed by regulation to be a prohibited device.

At the time of publication, the AFCCL was comprised of the following countries:

- 1. Albania
- 2. Australia
- 3. Belgium
- 4. Botswana
- 5. Bulgaria
- 6. Chile
- 7. Croatia
- 8. Czech Republic
- 9. Denmark
- 10. Estonia
- 11. Finland
- 12. France
- 13. Germany
- 14. Greece
- 15. Hungary
- 16. Iceland
- 17. Israel
- 18. Italy
- 19. Kuwait
- 20. Latvia

- 21. Lithuania
- 22. Luxembourg
- 23. Netherlands
- 24. New Zealand
- 25. Norway
- 26. Peru
- 27. Poland
- 28. Portugal
- 29. Republic of Colombia
- 30. Republic of Korea
- 31. Romania
- 32. Saudi Arabia
- 33. Slovakia
- 34. Slovenia
- 35. Spain
- 36. Sweden
- 37. Turkey
- 38. United Kingdom
- 39. United States
- 40. Ukraine

The Regulation establishing the AFCCL can be found at <u>http://laws-lois.justice.gc.ca/eng/regulations/SOR-91-575/FullText.html</u>

Annex C: Canada's International Transfers (Government to Government Transfers)

From time to time, the Government of Canada, normally via the Department of National Defence, will provide surplus military equipment to foreign governments through sale or donation. When determining sales and donations to foreign governments, the Government of Canada considers a number of factors, including the nature of the goods, the country of origin, the applicable controls relating to its distribution and the applicable Government of Canada policies. Records pertaining to these types of transfers are kept by the Department of National Defence. The information presented here is also publicly reported in Canada's submission to the United Nations Register of Conventional Arms (UNROCA) and only covers government transfers of conventional arms as defined by UNROCA. This information will also be included in future reports to the ATT.

Canada's international transfers in 2018 were:

• France: 2 x surplus 76mm gun weapon systems and associated spare parts that were sold to France's Ministry of Defence.

More information on the sale and donation of surplus equipment is available at www.forces.gc.ca/en/business-acquire-surplus-equipment/index.page

Annex D: United Nations Register of Conventional Arms (UNROCA)

Canada continues to actively promote greater transparency in the trade of conventional arms. In 1991, Canada was a founding contributor to UNROCA, which is an international, voluntary transparency mechanism under which Member States of the United Nations supply information to the Register on imports and exports of seven categories of conventional arms.

The Register is updated annually and makes a significant contribution to transparency, confidencebuilding and enhanced global security. Since the inception of the Register, more than 90 countries on average have made annual submissions to it; of these, about 70 have done so consistently, including Canada. As a result, the Register has become an important and authoritative source of information. The Register tracks data on the following seven categories of conventional arms: battle tanks, armoured combat vehicles, large-calibre artillery systems, combat aircraft, attack helicopters, warships, and missiles and missile launchers. This same information will also be included in future reports to the Arms Trade Treaty.

Canada is also one of a growing number of countries that voluntarily submit data to the Register on military holdings and on procurement through national production. In addition, Canada is one of several Member States that voluntarily supplies information on imports and exports of Small Arms and Light Weapons (SALW) to the Register as part of their annual report. This information goes beyond the voluntary minimum currently recommended by the UN.

Further information is available at the following links:

- United Nations Register of Conventional Arms: <u>www.un.org/disarmament/convarms/register/</u>
- Heavy Conventional Arms: <u>www.un-register.org/HeavyWeapons/Index.aspx</u>
- Small Arms and Light Weapons: <u>www.un-register.org/SmallArms/Index.aspx</u>

Actual Exports from Canada of Conventional Arms and SALW in 2018

The following table represents actual exports of conventional arms and SALW as defined by UNROCA reporting best practices, from Canada, during the 2018 calendar year, against export permits issued by Global Affairs Canada, for military, security or police end-use in the destination country.

Editions of the Report on the Exports of Military Goods from Canada and reports to UNROCA prior to 2016 listed total quantities of conventional arms and SALW that were authorized for export under permits issued in the course of the reporting year. This practice (i.e., reporting the "maximum allowable exports under issued permits") was not optimal, as it does not allow for the tracking of actual, versus potential, transfers of conventional arms and SALW. Since 2016, Canada reports actual exports/transfers of reportable conventional arms and SALW that occurred during the reporting year.
| | | ventional eapons | | Small Arms (1) | | | Light Weapons | | |
|-------------------|-----|---------------------|---------|----------------------|-------------------|------|------------------|------|--------------|
| | Ш | III | | | | | | I | II |
| Destination | ACV | LCAs | Pistols | Rifles & Carbines | Assault Rifles | LMGs | Other | HMGs | HH/UB GLs |
| ECL Item (2) | 2-6 | 2-2 | 2-1 | 2-1 | 2-1 | 2-1 | 2-1 | 2-2 | 2-2 |
| Afghanistan | | | | 18 | | | | | |
| Belgium | 8 | | | | | | | | |
| Botswana | | | | | 250 | | | | |
| Djibouti | 1 | | | | | | | | |
| France | | 2 | | 33 | | | | | |
| Morocco | 2 | | | | | | | | |
| Netherlands | | | | 8 | 829 | | | | |
| Saudi Arabia | 127 | | | 1634 | | | | | |
| United Kingdom | | | | 3313 | 40 | | | | |
| United States | | | | | | | 14(3) | | |
| Total | 138 | 2 | | 5006 | 1119 | | 14 | | |

Table 15: 2018 – UNCAR: Actual Exports from Canada of Conventional Arms and SALW

LEGEND:

ACV: Armoured Combat Vehicle (full systems only)

LCAs: Large-Calibre Artillery Systems (guns, howitzers, and artillery pieces with a calibre of 75 mm and above).

LMG: Light Machine Gun (full automatic firearm up to 12.7 mm / .50 calibre)

HMG: Heavy Machine Gun (full automatic firearm over 12.7 mm / .50 calibre)

HH/UB GL: Hand-Held/Under-Barrel Grenade Launcher

NOTES:

1. All bolt-action and semi-automatic rifles are reported under "Rifles & Carbines". Full-automatic firearms that are not submachine guns and that do not fall into the Light Machine Gun or Heavy Machine Gun category are reported under "Assault Rifles".

For illustrative examples of ECL items listed under Group 2 (Munitions List) see Table 9 on page 23. Please note that as only full systems are reported to UNROCA, the values presented in Table 10 (which reports all exports, including parts and components) may not correspond to the units items exported, as reported in this chart.
Tasers exported for police end-use in the United States.

Annex E: International Cooperation on Military Trade

The major multilateral export control regimes in which Canada participates are described below. Participating governments negotiate common lists of goods and technology that are implemented by all, according to national legislation. Each participating government takes its own licensing decisions in accordance with applicable domestic law. These lists evolve in response to changing international and technological circumstances. Updates and amendments are made on a periodic basis. Changes to Canada's Export Control List are incorporated through a regulatory amendment process.

Wassenaar Arrangement - Export Control List Groups 1 and 2

Most items have been included on the ECL because of Canada's commitments to international partners that participate in multilateral export control regimes or because of Canada's obligations as a signatory to international agreements that seek to control and monitor the movement of sensitive goods and technology.

The control regime that deals with the military and dual-use goods and technology covered in Group 2 (Munitions List) of the ECL is the Wassenaar Arrangement on Export Controls for Conventional Arms and Dual-Use Goods and Technologies, founded in 1996. The "Initial Elements" define the objectives of the Wassenaar Arrangement as, inter alia:

"to contribute to regional and international security and stability, by promoting transparency and greater responsibility in transfers of conventional arms and dual-use goods and technologies, thus preventing destabilising accumulations."

Through national policies, the Participating States seek to ensure that transfers of items covered by the common control lists do not contribute to the development or enhancement of military capabilities that have the potential to undermine regional and global security and stability. Participating States also commit to take every precaution to ensure that such goods and technologies are not diverted to illegitimate end-uses.

More information about the Wassenaar Arrangement and its 42 Participating States is available at <u>www.wassenaar.org</u>

Nuclear Suppliers Group - Export Control List Groups 3 and 4

Canada has a long-standing nuclear non-proliferation policy that is designed to, among other objectives; ensure that Canada's nuclear exports are not used for any nuclear weapon purposes or their development. As a party to the Treaty on the Non-Proliferation of Nuclear Weapons that came into force in 1970, Canada will not provide source or special fissionable material or equipment or material especially designed or prepared for the processing, use or production, of special fissionable material, to any Non-Nuclear Weapon State for peaceful purposes, unless the source or special fissionable material is subject to International Atomic Energy Agency safeguards.

In the late 1970s, a group of nuclear supplier countries, including Canada, agreed on a set of guidelines for nuclear transfers to any Non-Nuclear Weapon State for peaceful purposes. These became known as the Nuclear Suppliers Group Guidelines. In 1992, the Nuclear Suppliers Group established a list of nuclear-related dual-use goods and technology that could make a major contribution to a nuclear explosive activity or a non-safeguarded nuclear fuel cycle activity.

ECL Group 3 includes items that are nuclear-specific. ECL Group 4 includes nuclear-related dual-use items, i.e. items that are used in non-nuclear applications but that could also be used in a nuclear explosive activity or a non-safeguarded nuclear fuel cycle activity.

More information about the Nuclear Suppliers Group and its 47 Members is available at <u>www.nuclearsuppliersgroup.org</u>

Missile Technology Control Regime - Export Control List Group 6

The Missile Technology Control Regime was established in 1987 to address concerns about the proliferation of systems capable of delivering weapons of mass destruction, namely, chemical, biological or nuclear weapons. ECL Group 6 includes items agreed upon by the Partners of the Missile Technology Control Regime that are used in, or could be used in, the proliferation of systems capable of delivering chemical, biological or nuclear weapons.

More information about the Missile Technology Control Regime and its 35 Members is available at <u>www.mtcr.info</u>

Australia Group - Export Control List Group 7

The Australia Group was established in 1985 with the objective of preventing the proliferation of chemical and biological weapons. The participants (national governments) in the Australia Group have developed common export controls on chemical substances and biological agents and related items that could be used in the production of chemical and biological weapons.

More information about the Australia Group, including its 43 Members, is available at <u>www.australiagroup.org</u>

Organization for the Prohibition of Chemical Weapons - Export Control List Group 7

The Organization for the Prohibition of Chemical Weapons was established in 1997 when the Chemical Weapons Convention came into force. The goal of the Member States is to achieve a world that is free of chemical weapons and of the threat of their use, and in which cooperation in chemistry for peaceful purposes for all is fostered. The ECL contains chemicals and precursors that are controlled under the Chemical Weapons Convention. Some of the Chemical Weapons Convention chemicals and precursors are also controlled by the Australia Group.

More information about the Organization for the Prohibition of Chemical Weapons and its 193 Member States is available at <u>www.opcw.org</u>

Arms Trade Treaty

The Arms Trade Treaty (ATT) was adopted by the UN General Assembly in 2013 to establish international norms for the conventional arms trade. Unregulated and irresponsible arms transfers intensify and prolong conflict, lead to regional instability, facilitate human rights abuses on a massive scale, and hinder social and economic development. The ATT promotes responsibility, transparency and accountability in the global arms trade. Canada will accede to the ATT in 2019.

More information about the Arms Trade Treaty and its 102 States Parties is available at www.un.org/disarmament/convarms/att/

Global Affairs Canada has funded a number of projects to address illicit weapon flows and assist States to accede to and implement the ATT. Currently, approximately \$2.7M is being provided to Small Arms Survey, a Geneva-based NGO, to address the proliferation of small arms and light weapons, including addressing the diversion and loss of weapons and ammunition from peace operations and ensuring a gender-responsive approach to arms control practices and implementation have been included in decision making.

Annex F: Index of Destinations Considered Lower-Risk in 2018

Most export permit applications to the following destinations are generally considered low-risk and are thus subject to an expedited assessment processes. As previously mentioned, the service standard for applications to these destinations is typically 10 working days, as opposed to 40 working days for all other destinations. *All* export permit applications for military items, regardless of their country of destination, are assessed on a case-by-case basis against the previously mentioned assessment criteria, including the ATT criteria. The countries listed below are also considered low-risk within the context of Canada's proposed brokering controls. Controlled transactions brokered to any of these destinations would be covered under *General Brokering Permit No. 1*.

- Australia
- Austria
- Belgium
- Czech Republic
- Denmark
- Estonia
- Finland
- France
- Germany
- Greece
- Hungary

- Iceland
- Ireland
- Italy
- Japan
- Latvia
- Lithuania
- Luxembourg
- Netherlands
- New Zealand
- Norway
- Poland

- Portugal
- the Republic of Korea
- Slovakia
- Slovenia
- Spain
- Sweden
- Switzerland
- United Kingdom
- United States

| Destination | ECL Number | Value |
|-------------|------------|----------------------|
| Afghanistan | 2-1 | \$17,622.00 |
| | 2-3 | \$4,500.00 |
| Algeria | 2-1 | \$2,500.00 |
| | 2-15 | \$331,938.97 |
| Argentina | 2-1 | \$10,291.30 |
| Australia | 2-1 | \$3,606,004.10 |
| | 2-3 | \$109,976.00 |
| | 2-5 | \$77,784.13 |
| | 2-6 | \$674,553.16 |
| | 2-7 | \$829,724.00 |
| | 2-9 | \$3,838,834.23 |
| | 2-10 | \$39,155,157.14 |
| | 2-11 | \$252,694.01 |
| | 2-13 | \$550,422.30 |
| | 2-14 | \$868,691.72 |
| | 2-15 | \$1,441,003.51 |
| | 2-17 | \$1,354,470.00 |
| | 2-18 | \$743,588.00 |
| | 2-21 | \$232,287.47 |
| | 2-22 | \$193,637.66 |
| Austria | 2-1 | \$91,491.13 |
| | 2-5 | \$11,687.00 |
| | 2-11 | \$77 <i>,</i> 480.00 |
| | 2-15 | \$1,013.73 |
| | 2-21 | \$270.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$270.00 |
| Bahrain | 2-21 | \$600,000.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$138,750.00 |
| Bangladesh | 2-1 | \$2,126.10 |
| Belarus | 2-1 | \$9,122.37 |
| Belgium | 2-1 | \$1,342,649.73 |
| | 2-3 | \$227,003.84 |
| | 2-5 | \$6,177,221.93 |
| | 2-6 | \$149,982,714.84 |
| | 2-10 | \$750,336.21 |
| | 2-11 | \$111,776.76 |
| | 2-15 | \$5,746,111.21 |

Annex G: Exports of Military Goods and Technology by Destination and ECL Item²²

²² Data contains double counting as some items can be classified under more than one ECL number. See data interpretation notes on p.14, note iv.

| | 2.47 | 6005 640 00 |
|-------------------|----------------------------|--|
| | 2-17 | \$985,612.00 |
| | 2-21 | \$4.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$30,948.00 |
| Belize | 2-1 | \$33,160.00 |
| | 2-3 | \$1,465.00 |
| Botswana | 2-1 | \$2,269,800.00 |
| | 2-10 | \$287,244.00 |
| Brazil | 2-10 | \$23,076.00 |
| | 2-17 | \$302,640.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$370.00 |
| Brunei Darussalam | 2-14 | \$7,190.01 |
| | 2-21 | \$1 |
| | 2-22 | \$1 |
| Bulgaria | 2-1 | \$1,215.48 |
| | 2-11 | \$27,804.48 |
| | 2-21 | \$24,434.24 |
| Chile | 2-1 | \$911,793.90 |
| | 2-6 | \$595,643.90 |
| | 2-9 | \$2,906,970.04 |
| | 2-14 | \$130.00 |
| | 2-21 | \$130.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$1,010.00 |
| China | 2-11 | \$2,770.22 |
| Colombia | 2-5 | \$127,017.32 |
| | 2-11 | \$62,299.12 |
| | 2-15 | \$121,259.81 |
| Costa Rica | 2-10 | \$12,992.25 |
| Curaçao | 2-11 | \$76,000.00 |
| Cyprus | 2-11 | \$48,800.00 |
| | 2-21 | \$90.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$90.00 |
| Czech Republic | 2-1 | \$116,941.97 |
| | 2-3 | \$1,327.00 |
| | 2-4 | \$433,625.00 |
| | | 640 FC4 22 |
| | 2-10 | \$40,564.32 |
| | 2-10 2-15 | \$40,564.32 \$9,850.00 |
| Denmark | | |
| Denmark | 2-15 | \$9,850.00 |
| Denmark | 2-15 2-1 | \$9,850.00 \$2,814,750.31 |
| Denmark | 2-15 2-1 2-6 | \$9,850.00 \$2,814,750.31 \$42,832.66 |
| Denmark | 2-15 2-1 2-6 2-10 | \$9,850.00 \$2,814,750.31 \$42,832.66 \$92,097.00 |

| | | + |
|-----------------------------|-------------|-----------------------|
| | 2-18 | \$13,344.49 |
| | 2-21 | \$6.59 |
| | 2-22 | \$506.59 |
| Djibouti | 2-6 | \$515,000.00 |
| Egypt | 2-15 | \$19,725.00 |
| | 2-21 | \$270.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$270.00 |
| Estonia | 2-15 | \$1,067.74 |
| Falkland Islands (Malvinas) | 2-11 | \$4,880.00 |
| Finland | 2-1 | \$43,931.92 |
| | 2-6 | \$104,116.00 |
| | 2-10 | \$309,732.91 |
| | 2-11 | \$49,000.00 |
| | 2-15 | \$1,030,957.18 |
| | 2-17 | \$5,508.00 |
| | 2-21 | \$100.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$7,300.00 |
| France | 2-1 | \$799,810.48 |
| | 2-2 | \$1,971,003.01 |
| | 2-3 | \$714,927.01 |
| | 2-4 | \$80,490.00 |
| | 2-5 | \$862,400.36 |
| | 2-6 | \$1,756,766.50 |
| | 2-9 | \$3,131,037.92 |
| | 2-10 | \$3,458,828.92 |
| | 2-11 | \$2,420,480.54 |
| | 2-14 | \$23,516,401.45 |
| | 2-15 | \$13,180,381.73 |
| | 2-17 | \$174,621.00 |
| | 2-18 | \$24,651.44 |
| | 2-21 | \$8,629,991.57 |
| | 2-22 | \$2,433,622.56 |
| French Polynesia | 2-1 | \$649.98 |
| Germany | 2-1 | \$540,261.17 |
| | 2-2 | \$135,329.00 |
| | 2-3 | \$321,008.15 |
| | 2-4 | \$146,752.56 |
| | 2-5 | \$15,807,401.08 |
| | 2-6 | \$4,411,493.03 |
| | 2-9 | \$1,396,150.14 |
| | 2-10 | \$2,294,481.17 |
| | 2-11 | \$5,381,097.77 |
| | E 11 | <i>40,001,007,111</i> |

| | 2 4 2 | 634 003 FO |
|-----------|-------------|----------------|
| | 2-13 | \$24,893.59 |
| | 2-14 | \$6,901,244.81 |
| | 2-15 | \$518,612.74 |
| | 2-16 | \$460,346.59 |
| | 2-17 | \$559,245.00 |
| | 2-18 | \$490,474.36 |
| | 2-21 | \$4,662,435.49 |
| | 2-22 | \$1,875,088.55 |
| Ghana | 2-1 | \$700.00 |
| Gibraltar | 2-1 | \$1,437.96 |
| Greece | 2-1 | \$763.00 |
| | 2-10 | \$9,500.00 |
| | 2-21 | \$1,000.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$3,600.00 |
| Greenland | 2-1 | \$2,634.39 |
| Guyana | 2-3 | \$64,183.00 |
| Haiti | 2-1 | \$878.77 |
| | 2-3 | \$13.00 |
| Hong Kong | 2-1 | \$20,580.00 |
| Hungary | 2-1 | \$2,899.99 |
| | 2-3 | \$9,600.00 |
| | 2-7 | \$12,829.80 |
| | 2-10 | \$96,390.43 |
| | 2-11 | \$96,390.43 |
| | 2-21 | \$200.08 |
| | 2-22 | \$0.06 |
| Iceland | 2-1 | \$1,671.12 |
| India | 2-1 | \$10,617.00 |
| | 2-5 | \$31,030.72 |
| | 2-10 | \$92,404.64 |
| | 2-11 | \$386,734.11 |
| | 2-15 | \$2,873.55 |
| | 2-18 | \$13,012.00 |
| | 2-21 | \$1 |
| | 2-22 | \$524,212.68 |
| Indonesia | 2-1 | \$3,172,898.97 |
| | 2-5 | \$41,420.00 |
| | 2-7 | \$19,972.08 |
| | 2-14 | \$28,000.45 |
| | 2-15 | \$2,526,526.93 |
| | 2-22 | \$35.00 |
| Iraq | 2-6 | \$658.59 |
| | ∠ -0 | 201013 |

| | 2-18 | \$61.59 |
|---------|------|-----------------|
| Ireland | 2-1 | \$19,581.00 |
| Israel | 2-1 | \$11,972.10 |
| | 2-4 | \$4,241,210.92 |
| | 2-5 | \$605,258.91 |
| | 2-6 | \$368,539.60 |
| | 2-9 | \$560,303.00 |
| | 2-10 | \$2,074,483.81 |
| | 2-11 | \$6,707,319.00 |
| | 2-14 | \$60,862.74 |
| | 2-15 | \$300,407.37 |
| | 2-16 | \$1,064,435.16 |
| | 2-18 | \$6,384.02 |
| | 2-21 | \$748.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$3,773.06 |
| Italy | 2-1 | \$2,156,848.99 |
| | 2-3 | \$84,696.00 |
| | 2-5 | \$307,091.51 |
| | 2-7 | \$2,507.32 |
| | 2-9 | \$13,164,494.01 |
| | 2-10 | \$2,389,125.99 |
| | 2-11 | \$312,538.50 |
| | 2-13 | \$565.86 |
| | 2-14 | \$2,000,000.00 |
| | 2-15 | \$579,704.82 |
| | 2-16 | \$371,753.00 |
| | 2-17 | \$2,724,306.88 |
| | 2-21 | \$426,690.42 |
| | 2-22 | \$37,049.24 |
| Japan | 2-1 | \$18,910.00 |
| | 2-4 | \$398,985.00 |
| | 2-5 | \$45,286.43 |
| | 2-6 | \$1,622.32 |
| | 2-7 | \$51,257.60 |
| | 2-9 | \$18,062.63 |
| | 2-10 | \$7,156,071.62 |
| | 2-11 | \$9,543,605.45 |
| | 2-13 | \$2,280.84 |
| | 2-15 | \$235,423.54 |
| | 2-16 | \$1,630,266.00 |
| | 2-18 | \$267,914.98 |
| | 2-21 | \$1,098,000.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$537,806.45 |

| lordan | • • • | ¢01 070 00 |
|----------------------------|--------------|----------------------|
| Jordan | 2-2 2-6 | \$81,870.00 |
| | | \$2,025,000.00 |
| | 2-15 | \$575,417.16 |
| Kazakhstan | 2-1 | \$1,312.91 |
| | 2-6 | \$1,171,620.00 |
| | 2-15 | \$9,022.00 |
| | 2-18 | \$50,000.00 |
| Kenya | 2-15 | \$124,253.96 |
| Korea (South), Republic of | 2-1 | \$252,387.00 |
| | 2-5 | \$367,239.00 |
| | 2-6 | \$627,660.09 |
| | 2-7 | \$13,004.07 |
| | 2-9 | \$7,331,729.15 |
| | 2-10 | \$759,101.29 |
| | 2-11 | \$760,340.36 |
| | 2-14 | \$162,157.14 |
| | 2-15 | \$460,414.75 |
| | 2-16 | \$289,872.00 |
| | 2-17 | \$56,000.00 |
| | 2-18 | \$1,449,069.88 |
| | 2-21 | \$36,432.40 |
| | 2-22 | \$291,222.25 |
| Kuwait | 2-3 | \$175.80 |
| | 2-6 | \$41,526.55 |
| | 2-10 | \$59,370.48 |
| | 2-11 | \$59,370.48 |
| | 2-18 | \$146.97 |
| Lebanon | 2-6 | \$68,607.00 |
| Luxembourg | 2-1 | \$399.99 |
| | 2-3 | \$402,050.00 |
| | 2-6 | \$60,422.26 |
| | 2-9 | \$57,302.19 |
| | 2-10 | \$787,151.82 |
| | 2-14 | \$502,864.17 |
| | 2-15 | \$2,116,148.79 |
| | 2-21 | \$443,868.60 |
| | 2-22 | \$53,825.08 |
| Madagascar | 2-1 | \$1,513.95 |
| Malaysia | 2-10 | \$14,061.00 |
| , | 2-15 | \$438,458.83 |
| Mexico | 2-10 | \$249,336.76 |
| | 2-15 | \$2,169,198.08 |
| | 2 13 | <i>42,103,130.00</i> |

| Γ | 2.40 | 6220.000.00 |
|-----------------|------|----------------------|
| | 2-18 | \$228,900.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$10,029.00 |
| Morocco | 2-3 | \$5,146,848.00 |
| | 2-6 | \$1,972,447.00 |
| Netherlands | 2-1 | \$5,305,445.15 |
| | 2-4 | \$513,482.82 |
| | 2-5 | \$13,131.37 |
| | 2-6 | \$252,000.00 |
| | 2-9 | \$121,047.00 |
| | 2-10 | \$3,059,011.31 |
| | 2-11 | \$34,742.00 |
| | 2-14 | \$214,863.76 |
| | 2-15 | \$503,506.12 |
| | 2-16 | \$164,524.50 |
| | 2-18 | \$23,768.30 |
| | 2-21 | \$434.12 |
| | 2-22 | \$5,686,961.21 |
| New Caledonia | 2-1 | \$9,233.22 |
| | 2-5 | \$38,750.68 |
| | 2-11 | \$38,750.68 |
| | 2-15 | \$75,503.20 |
| New Zealand | 2-1 | \$148,302.10 |
| | 2-2 | \$5,522.14 |
| | 2-3 | \$658,792.00 |
| | 2-5 | \$1,883,851.84 |
| | 2-6 | \$452,368.61 |
| | 2-9 | \$10,344.00 |
| | 2-10 | \$525,705.76 |
| | 2-11 | \$462,712.61 |
| | 2-14 | \$1,640,258.80 |
| | 2-22 | \$1,155.01 |
| Niger | 2-15 | \$37,448.16 |
| Nigeria | 2-1 | \$2,372.11 |
| | 2-3 | \$499.99 |
| | 2-10 | \$414,517.90 |
| North Macedonia | 2-1 | \$700.00 |
| Norway | 2-1 | \$291,818.71 |
| , | 2-2 | \$9,750.00 |
| | 2-3 | \$562,446.66 |
| | 2-5 | \$812,741.20 |
| | 2-6 | \$954,221.00 |
| | 2-9 | \$2,738,206.53 |
| | 25 | <i>42,730,200.33</i> |

| 2-14 \$277,685.06 2-15 \$1,878,779.27 2-18 \$5,075.34 2-21 \$17,818.79 2-22 \$100.00 Oman 2-14 \$2,2736.50 2-22 \$211,989.04 Peru 2-4 \$439,871.82 2-5 \$439,871.82 2-5 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-6 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-7 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-15 \$2,500.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$2,500.00 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-4 \$248,750.00 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$55,024 2-16 \$3,445.0 | | | |
|---|--------------------|------|---------------------|
| 2-15 \$1,878,779.27 2-18 \$5,075.34 2-21 \$17,818.79 2-22 \$100.00 Oman 2-14 \$2,2736.50 2-22 \$211,989.04 \$2-22 \$211,989.04 Peru 2-4 \$439,871.82 \$2-6 \$439,871.82 2-6 \$439,871.82 \$2-6 \$439,871.82 \$2-7 \$439,871.82 2-11 \$439,871.82 \$2-13 \$439,871.82 \$2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 \$2-13 \$439,871.82 \$2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 \$2-13 \$439,871.82 \$2-22 \$2,500.00 Philippines 2-6 \$175,497.00 \$2-3 \$5,167,356.90 \$2-6 \$281,738.00 \$2-3 \$5,167,356.90 \$2-6 \$281,738.00 \$2-7 \$5,201.04 \$2-10 \$3,519,302.46 \$2-11 \$39,776.68 \$2-11 \$39,776.68 \$2-11 \$3,455.00 \$2-17 \$57,51.81.10 \$2-18 \$20,602.75 \$2-22 \$535.04 \$2-71 <td></td> <td>2-11</td> <td></td> | | 2-11 | |
| 2-18 \$5,075.34 2-21 \$17,818.79 2-22 \$100.00 Oman 2-14 \$2,276.50 2-22 \$211,989.04 Peru 2-4 \$439,871.82 2-6 \$439,871.82 2-6 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-7 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-14 2-15 \$2,500.00 2-18 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$2,500.00 2-6 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 2-11 \$3,450.00 2-17 2-12 | | | |
| 2-21 \$17,818.79 2-22 \$100.00 Oman 2-14 \$2,736.50 2-22 \$211,989.04 Peru 2-4 \$439,871.82 2-5 \$439,871.82 2-6 2-6 \$439,871.82 2-7 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-10 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-15 \$2,500.00 2-18 2-16 \$247,5497.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 \$3,519,302.46 2-10 \$31,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$33.5 | | 2-15 | |
| 2-22 \$100.00 Oman 2-14 \$2,736.50 2-22 \$211,989.04 Peru 2-4 \$439,871.82 2-5 \$439,871.82 2-6 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-10 2-10 \$186,674.43 2-11 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-10 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-11 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-15 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-10 \$186,674.43 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-15 \$2,500.00 2-16 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$2,887.50 2-3 2-3 \$2,662.75 \$2,887.50 2-4 \$2,887.50 2-16 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 2-11 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 2-12 \$5,535.04 <td< td=""><td></td><td>2-18</td><td>\$5<i>,</i>075.34</td></td<> | | 2-18 | \$5 <i>,</i> 075.34 |
| Oman 2-14 \$2,736.50 2-22 \$211,989.04 Peru 2-4 \$439,871.82 2-5 \$439,871.82 2-6 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-7 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-14 \$4439,871.82 2-13 2-18 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-18 \$439,871.82 2-22 2-20 \$2,500.00 2-16 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$287.00 2-3 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 2-4 \$281,738.00 2-7 2-10 \$33,519,302.46 2-11 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 2-14 \$300.00 | | 2-21 | |
| 2-22 \$211,989,04 Peru 2-4 \$439,871.82 2-5 \$439,871.82 2-6 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-7 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-12 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-22 2-20 \$2,500.00 2-13 Philippines 2-6 \$175,497.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 2-4 \$35,19,302.46 2-11 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 2-11 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 2-12 \$535.04 2-17 Portugal 2-1 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$3,50,000 2-13 2-13 \$6 | | 2-22 | \$100.00 |
| Peru 2-4 \$439,871.82 2-5 \$439,871.82 2-6 \$439,871.82 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-15 \$143,481.18 2-22 \$20,000 2-16 \$37,497.00 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 | Oman | 2-14 | \$2,736.50 |
| 2-5 \$439,871.82 2-6 \$439,871.82 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-15 \$2,500.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$2,500.00 2-3 \$5167,356.90 2-6 \$28,875.00 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-12 \$355.01 2-13 \$52,060.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-13 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 | | 2-22 | \$211,989.04 |
| 2-6 \$439,871.82 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-14 \$439,871.82 2-15 \$439,871.82 2-16 \$2,500.00 Philippines 2-6 \$22,500.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 2-6 \$28,875.00 2-6 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 2-12 \$335.04 2-17 90 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 2-11 \$30,000 2-18 2-12 \$335.04 2-10 Portugal 2-1 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,223.50 2-10 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 <td>Peru</td> <td>2-4</td> <td>\$439,871.82</td> | Peru | 2-4 | \$439,871.82 |
| 2-7 \$439,871.82 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-18 \$439,871.82 2-18 \$439,871.82 2-22 \$2,500.00 Philippines 2-6 \$175,497.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 | | 2-5 | \$439,871.82 |
| 2-10 \$186,674.54 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-18 \$439,871.82 2-12 \$2,500.00 Philippines 2-6 \$175,497.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 2-6 \$28,875.00 2-3 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 2-11 \$300,00 2-17 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 2-18 \$20,600.75 2-22 2-18 \$20,600.75 2-22 2-10 \$52,283.50 2-10 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 2-10 \$155.81 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$25,224,887.25 2-10 2-10 \$6,51.02 | | 2-6 | \$439,871.82 |
| 2-11 \$439,871.82 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-18 \$439,871.82 2-18 \$439,871.82 2-22 \$2,500.00 Philippines 2-6 \$175,497.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 2-10 \$300.00 2-13 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-7 | \$439,871.82 |
| 2-13 \$439,871.82 2-18 \$439,871.82 2-22 \$2,500.00 Philippines 2-6 \$175,497.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 2-4 \$28,875.00 2-7 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-11 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 2-13 \$20,602.75 2-22 2-14 \$300.00 2-17 2-15 \$100,000.00 2-10 2-10 \$52,283.50 2-10 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 2-10 \$155.81 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$55,224,887.25 2-10 2-10 \$155.81 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 | | 2-10 | \$186,674.54 |
| 2-18 \$439,871.82 2-22 \$2,500.00 Philippines 2-6 \$175,497.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-6 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-11 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-3 2-10 \$55,214.887.25 2-10 2-11 \$300.00 2-3 2-22 \$535.04 2-10 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-3 2-4 \$100,000.00 2-6 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 2-5 \$114,816.00 2-15 2-11< | | 2-11 | \$439,871.82 |
| 2-22 \$2,500.00 Philippines 2-6 \$175,497.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-11 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 2-5 \$300.00 2-3 2-10 \$55,204,887.25 2-10 2-11 \$300,000 2-3 2-10 \$55,224,887.25 2-10 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-4 2-10 \$155.81 3 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 2-11 \$1,715.25 \$114,816.00 <td></td> <td>2-13</td> <td>\$439,871.82</td> | | 2-13 | \$439,871.82 |
| Philippines 2-6 \$175,497.00 Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 \$167,579.23 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-18 | \$439,871.82 |
| Poland 2-1 \$143,481.18 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 \$167,157.92.3 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-22 | \$2,500.00 |
| 2-2 \$28,875.00 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-7 \$25,724.92 \$21 2-11 \$1,715.25 \$114,816.00 2-12 \$18,465.00 \$2-15 | Philippines | 2-6 | \$175,497.00 |
| 2-3 \$167,356.90 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-12 \$14,816.00 2-23 \$14,816.00 | Poland | 2-1 | \$143,481.18 |
| 2-6 \$281,738.00 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-12 \$14,816.00 2-22 \$14,816.00 | | 2-2 | \$28,875.00 |
| 2-7 \$5,201.04 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-12 \$114,816.00 2-13 \$14,816.00 | | 2-3 | \$167,356.90 |
| 2-10 \$3,519,302.46 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-6 | \$281,738.00 |
| 2-11 \$39,776.68 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 2-22 | | 2-7 | \$5,201.04 |
| 2-16 \$3,445.00 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 \$100,000.00 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 \$4,715.25 2-11 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 \$114,816.00 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-10 | \$3,519,302.46 |
| 2-17 \$75,181.10 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-11 \$1,715.25 \$114,816.00 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-11 | \$39,776.68 |
| 2-18 \$20,602.75 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-16 | \$3,445.00 |
| 2-22 \$535.04 Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-17 | \$75,181.10 |
| Portugal 2-1 \$300.00 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-18 | \$20,602.75 |
| 2-3 \$6,940.00 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-22 | \$535.04 |
| 2-10 \$52,283.50 Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | Portugal | 2-1 | \$300.00 |
| Qatar 2-5 \$100,000.00 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 | | 2-3 | \$6,940.00 |
| 2-6 \$5,224,887.25 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 2-15 \$18,465.00 2-22 | | 2-10 | \$52,283.50 |
| 2-10 \$155.81 Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 | Qatar | 2-5 | \$100,000.00 |
| Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-6 | \$5,224,887.25 |
| Romania 2-1 \$6,711.03 2-4 \$167,579.23 2-7 \$25,724.92 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-10 | \$155.81 |
| 2-4\$167,579.232-7\$25,724.922-11\$1,715.252-15\$114,816.002-22\$18,465.00 | Romania | 2-1 | |
| 2-7\$25,724.922-11\$1,715.252-15\$114,816.002-22\$18,465.00 | | 2-4 | |
| 2-11 \$1,715.25 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-7 | |
| 2-15 \$114,816.00 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-11 | |
| 2-22 \$18,465.00 | | 2-15 | |
| | | | |
| | Russian Federation | 2-1 | \$2,526.92 |

| Coudi Archio | 2.4 | ¢17 C77 052 07 |
|--------------|------|--------------------------------|
| Saudi Arabia | 2-1 | \$17,677,953.87 |
| | 2-2 | \$185,062.76 |
| | 2-4 | \$1,840.55 |
| | 2-5 | \$12,576,828.86 |
| | 2-6 | \$1,251,700,976.67 |
| | 2-7 | \$17,689.39 |
| | 2-11 | \$9,276,740.09 |
| | 2-13 | \$3,026,173.96 |
| | 2-14 | \$155,152.23 |
| | 2-15 | \$390,037.70 |
| | 2-18 | \$3,882,363.88 |
| | 2-21 | \$35,081.31 |
| | 2-22 | \$8,353.74 |
| Singapore | 2-3 | \$1,173.00 |
| | 2-6 | \$2,916,949.41 |
| | 2-8 | \$2,552.00 |
| | 2-9 | \$3,080,455.97 |
| | 2-10 | \$99,968.60 |
| | 2-14 | \$129,933.19 |
| | 2-15 | \$5,807.02 |
| | 2-21 | \$50,267.69 |
| | 2-22 | \$4,054,423.79 |
| Slovakia | 2-1 | \$10,923.96 |
| Slovenia | 2-1 | \$40,892.90 |
| South Africa | 2-1 | \$172,540.56 |
| | 2-5 | \$2,071.00 |
| | 2-10 | \$10,000.00 |
| | 2-11 | \$1,441,143.60 |
| | 2-15 | \$192,690.00 |
| | 2-17 | \$1,967,039.26 |
| | 2-21 | \$180.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$280.00 |
| Spain | 2-1 | \$125,219.70 |
| | 2-3 | \$51,111.55 |
| | 2-4 | \$25,107.26 |
| | 2-5 | \$243,122.51 |
| | 2-6 | \$50,918,948.54 |
| | 2-9 | \$1,592,471.62 |
| | 2-10 | \$100,799.60 |
| | 2-10 | \$1,621,957.38 |
| | 2-14 | \$6,775.41 |
| | 2-15 | \$2,008,975.50 |
| | 2 13 | <i>\</i> \ _,000,573.30 |

| | 2.42 | |
|-------------|------|-------------------|
| | 2-18 | \$75.76 |
| | 2-21 | \$382,262.15 |
| | 2-22 | \$375,715.80 |
| Sweden | 2-1 | \$67,168.83 |
| | 2-3 | \$1,380,167.23 |
| | 2-5 | \$108,152.00 |
| | 2-6 | \$5,315,452.00 |
| | 2-9 | \$352,340.33 |
| | 2-10 | \$2,039,849.50 |
| | 2-11 | \$154,453.00 |
| | 2-14 | \$103,855.00 |
| | 2-17 | \$151,200.00 |
| | 2-18 | \$100,000.00 |
| | 2-21 | \$76,272.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$1,931.00 |
| Switzerland | 2-1 | \$184,003.77 |
| | 2-3 | \$677,085.00 |
| | 2-5 | \$2,146,978.00 |
| | 2-6 | \$3,866,351.81 |
| | 2-10 | \$519,615.95 |
| | 2-11 | \$7,889,118.14 |
| | 2-13 | \$74,010.76 |
| | 2-15 | \$7,380.00 |
| | 2-18 | \$864,263.39 |
| | 2-21 | \$20.10 |
| | 2-22 | \$929,882.79 |
| Taiwan | 2-8 | \$251,685.00 |
| | 2-9 | \$865,930.00 |
| | 2-10 | \$92,487.60 |
| | 2-11 | \$20,472.09 |
| | 2-21 | \$4,290.00 |
| | 2-22 | \$23,617.50 |
| Thailand | 2-1 | \$85,316.72 |
| | 2-9 | \$70,554.00 |
| | 2-10 | \$3,748,636.58 |
| Tunisia | 2-14 | \$28,101.45 |
| Turkey | 2-1 | \$40,559.00 |
| , | 2-3 | \$1,180.00 |
| | 2-5 | \$66,375,367.00 |
| | 2-6 | \$1,249,367.90 |
| | 2-7 | \$37,736.64 |
| | 2-9 | \$25,490.76 |
| L | 2 3 | <i>423,130.70</i> |

| 2-10 \$2,736,255.62 2-11 \$27,811,321.32 2-14 \$8,940.00 2-15 \$76,733,638.00 2-17 \$737,113.78 2-18 \$216,457.50 2-21 \$183,521.01 2-22 \$1,455,129.30 Turks and Caicos Islands 2-3 \$12,799.00 Uganda 2-6 \$44,394.20 2-15 \$14,455,129.30 Ukraine 2-1 \$514,368.49 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-24 \$8,384,009.74 \$2,5 \$4,801,218.45 <th></th> <th></th> <th></th> | | | |
|---|--------------------------|------|-----------------|
| 2-14 \$8,940.00 2-15 \$76,733,638.00 2-17 \$737,113.78 2-18 \$216,457.50 2-21 \$183,521.01 2-22 \$1,455,129.30 Uganda 2-6 \$4,394.20 Ukraine 2-1 \$514,368.49 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 2-15 \$1,425,900.00 2-22 23,020,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$654,394.20 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 2-22 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$514,366.49 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 2-12 \$15,970.00 2-22 2-13 \$2,1745,145.10 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 \$17,483,976.62 2-16 \$2,745,145.10 2-22 \$270.20 Unit | | 2-10 | \$2,736,255.62 |
| 2-15 \$76,733,638.00 2-17 \$737,113.78 2-18 \$216,457.50 2-21 \$183,521.01 2-22 \$1,455,129.30 Turks and Caicos Islands 2-3 \$12,799.00 Uganda 2-6 \$4,394.20 Ukraine 2-1 \$514,368.49 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 23,020,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 2-12 \$15,38,654.99 2-10 2-13 \$4,836,275.00 2-11 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-10 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-16 2-14 \$2,745,145.10 2-22 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 | | 2-11 | \$27,811,321.32 |
| 2-17 \$737,113.78 2-18 \$216,457.50 2-21 \$183,521.01 2-22 \$1,455,129.30 Turks and Caicos Islands 2-3 \$12,799.00 Uganda 2-6 \$4,394.20 Ukraine 2-1 \$514,368.49 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 23,020,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 2-13 \$4,836,275.00 2-15 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-10 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 2-11 \$159,270.00 2-12 2-12 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 2-13 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 2-21 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 2-22 \$270.20 2-22 United Kingdom <td< td=""><td></td><td>2-14</td><td>\$8,940.00</td></td<> | | 2-14 | \$8,940.00 |
| 2-18 \$216,457.50 2-21 \$183,521.01 2-22 \$1,455,129.30 Turks and Caicos Islands 2-3 \$12,799.00 Uganda 2-6 \$4,394.20 Ukraine 2-1 \$514,368.49 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 23,020,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,75.00 2-5 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 2-12 \$159,270.00 2-15 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-21 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-10 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 2-20.20 2 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 | | 2-15 | \$76,733,638.00 |
| 2-21 \$183,521.01 2-22 \$1,455,129.30 Turks and Caicos Islands 2-3 \$112,799.00 Uganda 2-6 \$4,394.20 Ukraine 2-1 \$514,368.49 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 23,020,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 2-5 \$515,338,654.99 2-10 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 2-12 \$159,270.00 2-22 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 2-16 \$2,745,145.10 2-22 2-20.20 \$270.20 2-21 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$2,713,1847.00 2-3 2-3 \$2,131,847.00 2-4 < | | 2-17 | \$737,113.78 |
| 2-22 \$1,455,129.30 Turks and Caicos Islands 2-3 \$12,799.00 Uganda 2-6 \$4,394.20 Ukraine 2-1 \$514,368.49 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 23,020,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 2-10 \$82,491.11 211 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 2-12 \$159,270.00 2-22 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-3 2-22 \$270.20 2 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$2712.00 2-3 <td></td> <td>2-18</td> <td>\$216,457.50</td> | | 2-18 | \$216,457.50 |
| Turks and Caicos Islands 2-3 \$12,799.00 Uganda 2-6 \$4,394.20 Ukraine 2-1 \$514,368.49 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 23,020,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 2-10 \$15,9,270.00 2-22 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 2-22 \$270.20 2 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$270.20 2 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$2,13, | | 2-21 | \$183,521.01 |
| Uganda 2-6 \$4,394.20 Ukraine 2-1 \$514,368.49 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$2,704,100 2-3 \$2,131,847.00 2-4 \$8,384,009,74 2-5 \$4,801,218.45 2-6 \$968,813.16 2-9 \$7,219,967.26 <tr< td=""><td></td><td>2-22</td><td>\$1,455,129.30</td></tr<> | | 2-22 | \$1,455,129.30 |
| Ukraine 2-1 \$514,368.49 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.00 2-22 \$270.20 2 \$270.00 2-23 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$12,300.00 2-3 \$2,131,847.00 2-23 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$12,300.00 2-3 \$2,131,847.00 2-4 \$8,384,009.74 2-5 \$4,801,218.45 2-6 \$968,813.16 2-9 \$7,219,967.26 2-10 \$6,435,783.48 2-11 \$4,115,893.67 2-13 \$15,188.28 2-14 \$9,618,018.38 2-15 <td>Turks and Caicos Islands</td> <td>2-3</td> <td>\$12,799.00</td> | Turks and Caicos Islands | 2-3 | \$12,799.00 |
| 2-5 \$301,849.80 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$270.20 \$24 \$2,131,847.00 2-4 \$8,384,009.74 2-5 \$4,480,1218.45 2-6 \$968,813.16 2-9 \$7,219,967.26 \$2-10 \$6,435,783.48 2-10 \$6,435,783.48 \$2-11 \$4,115,893.67 2-13 \$15,188.28 \$2-14 \$9,618,018.38 2-14 \$9,618,018.38 | Uganda | 2-6 | \$4,394.20 |
| 2-15 \$1,425,000.00 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-3 | Ukraine | 2-1 | \$514,368.49 |
| 2-22 \$3,020,000.00 United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 2-22 \$270.20 2 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 2-23 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 2-2 \$12,300.00 2-3 \$2,131,847.00 2-4 \$8,384,009.74 2-5 \$4,801,218.45 2-6 \$968,813.16 2-9 \$7,219,967.26 2-10 \$6,435,783.48 2-11 \$4,115,893.67 2-13 \$15,188.28 2-14 \$9,618,018.38 2-14 \$9,618,018.38 2-15 \$14,606,146.25 2-16 | | 2-5 | \$301,849.80 |
| United Arab Emirates 2-1 \$65,228.94 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$12,300.00 2-3 \$2,131,847.00 2-4 \$8,384,009.74 2-5 \$4,801,218.45 2-6 \$968,813.16 2-9 \$7,219,967.26 2-10 \$6,435,783.48 2-11 \$4,115,893.67 2-13 \$15,188.28 2-14 \$9,618,018.38 2-14 \$9,618,018.38 2-15 \$14,606,146.25 2-16 | | 2-15 | \$1,425,000.00 |
| 2-3 \$4,836,275.00 2-5 \$15,338,654.99 2-10 \$82,491.11 2-11 \$37,455.02 2-14 \$2,673,169.90 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$2,745,145.10 2-3 \$2,131,847.00 2-4 \$8,384,009.74 2-5 \$4,801,218.45 2-6 \$968,813.16 2-9 \$7,219,967.26 2-10 \$6,435,783.48 2-11 \$4,115,893.67 2-13 \$15,188.28 2-14 \$9,618,018.38 2-15 \$14,606,146.25 2-16 \$440,873.35 2-17 \$179,000.00 2-18 \$550,641.09 <td></td> <td>2-22</td> <td>\$3,020,000.00</td> | | 2-22 | \$3,020,000.00 |
| 2-5\$15,338,654.992-10\$82,491.112-11\$37,455.022-14\$2,673,169.902-15\$17,483,796.622-21\$159,270.002-22\$270.20United Kingdom2-12-2\$12,300.002-3\$2,131,847.002-4\$8,384,009.742-5\$4,801,218.452-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | United Arab Emirates | 2-1 | \$65,228.94 |
| 2-10\$82,491.112-11\$37,455.022-14\$2,673,169.902-15\$17,483,796.622-21\$159,270.002-22\$270.20United Kingdom2-1\$2,745,145.102-2\$12,300.002-3\$2,131,847.002-4\$8,384,009.742-5\$4,801,218.452-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-3 | \$4,836,275.00 |
| 2-11\$37,455.022-14\$2,673,169.902-15\$17,483,796.622-21\$159,270.002-22\$270.20United Kingdom2-12-2\$12,300.002-3\$2,131,847.002-4\$8,384,009.742-5\$4,801,218.452-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-5 | \$15,338,654.99 |
| 2-14\$2,673,169.902-15\$17,483,796.622-21\$159,270.002-22\$270.20United Kingdom2-12-2\$12,300.002-3\$2,131,847.002-4\$8,384,009.742-5\$4,801,218.452-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-10 | \$82,491.11 |
| 2-15 \$17,483,796.62 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$12,300.00 2-3 \$2,131,847.00 2-4 \$8,384,009.74 2-5 \$4,801,218.45 2-6 \$968,813.16 2-9 \$7,219,967.26 2-10 \$6,435,783.48 2-11 \$4,115,893.67 2-13 \$15,188.28 2-14 \$9,618,018.38 2-15 \$14,606,146.25 2-16 \$440,873.35 2-17 \$179,000.00 2-18 \$550,641.09 2-21 \$8,365,201.84 | | 2-11 | \$37,455.02 |
| 2-21 \$159,270.00 2-22 \$270.20 United Kingdom 2-1 \$2,745,145.10 2-2 \$12,300.00 2-3 \$2,131,847.00 2-3 \$2,131,847.00 2-4 \$8,384,009.74 2-4 \$8,384,009.74 2-5 \$4,801,218.45 2-5 \$4,801,218.45 2-6 \$968,813.16 2-9 \$7,219,967.26 2-10 \$6,435,783.48 2-10 \$6,435,783.48 2-11 \$4,115,893.67 2-13 \$15,188.28 2-11 \$4,115,893.67 2-13 \$15,188.28 2-14 \$9,618,018.38 2-14 \$9,618,018.38 2-15 \$14,606,146.25 2-15 \$14,606,146.25 2-16 \$440,873.35 2-17 \$179,000.00 2-18 \$550,641.09 2-18 \$550,641.09 2-21 \$8,365,201.84 | | 2-14 | \$2,673,169.90 |
| 2-22\$270.20United Kingdom2-1\$2,745,145.102-2\$12,300.002-3\$2,131,847.002-4\$8,384,009.742-5\$4,801,218.452-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-15 | \$17,483,796.62 |
| United Kingdom2-1\$2,745,145.102-2\$12,300.002-3\$2,131,847.002-4\$8,384,009.742-5\$4,801,218.452-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-21 | \$159,270.00 |
| 2-2\$12,300.002-3\$2,131,847.002-4\$8,384,009.742-5\$4,801,218.452-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-22 | \$270.20 |
| 2-3\$2,131,847.002-4\$8,384,009.742-5\$4,801,218.452-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | United Kingdom | 2-1 | \$2,745,145.10 |
| 2-4\$8,384,009.742-5\$4,801,218.452-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-2 | \$12,300.00 |
| 2-5\$4,801,218.452-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-3 | \$2,131,847.00 |
| 2-6\$968,813.162-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-4 | \$8,384,009.74 |
| 2-9\$7,219,967.262-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-5 | \$4,801,218.45 |
| 2-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-6 | \$968,813.16 |
| 2-10\$6,435,783.482-11\$4,115,893.672-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-9 | \$7,219,967.26 |
| 2-13\$15,188.282-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-10 | |
| 2-14\$9,618,018.382-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-11 | \$4,115,893.67 |
| 2-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-13 | \$15,188.28 |
| 2-15\$14,606,146.252-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-14 | \$9,618,018.38 |
| 2-16\$440,873.352-17\$179,000.002-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-15 | |
| 2-18\$550,641.092-21\$8,365,201.84 | | 2-16 | \$440,873.35 |
| 2-21 \$8,365,201.84 | | 2-17 | |
| | | 2-18 | \$550,641.09 |
| | | 2-21 | \$8,365,201.84 |
| | | 2-22 | \$12,099,200.15 |